
Page 1 of 3 

 

 City Council Meeting and Workshop 

November 4, 2013 

Agenda 
                                    
 
 
                                                                             
 

5:30 P.M.  Workshop  

A. Lewiston/Auburn Economic Growth Council (LAEGC) – Clint Deschene (60 minutes) 

B. Repurposing Ingersoll Arena – Clint Deschene (20 minutes) 

C. Lewiston/Auburn Transit Committee (LATC) – Clint Deschene (20 minutes) 

D. Executive session - MSEA labor negotiations discussion, pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(D).  

E. Executive session – Labor negotiations update (Fire, MAP Patrol, MAP Command) pursuant to 1 

M.R.S.A. §405(6)(D). 

F. Tree harvesting – Denis D’Auteuil (15 minutes) 

G. Committee appointment process – Clint Deschene (10 minutes) 

 

More workshop items have been scheduled than time will allow. The City Manager would like to recommend 

continuing the workshop at the end of the agenda if Council is in agreement.   

 

7:00 P.M.  City Council Meeting 

 

Pledge of Allegiance   

I. Consent Items – All items listed with an asterisk (*) are considered as routine and will be approved in one motion.   

There will be no separate discussion of these items unless a Councilor or citizen so requests.  If requested, the item 

will be removed from the consent agenda and considered in the order it appears on the agenda.   

 

1. Order 97-11042013*   

Appointment of Warden and Ward Clerk for the November 5, 2013 Election. 

 

2. Order 98-11042013*   

  Confirming Chief Crowell’s appointment of Katherine D. Avery, Joseph M. Correia and 

Joseph T. Miville as Constables with a firearm for the Auburn Police Department. 

 

II.    Minutes   

 October 21, 2013 Regular Council Meeting 
 

III.   Reports  

Mayor’s Report  
 

City Manager’s Report 

 Committee Reports 

 Transportation 

o Androscoggin Transportation Resource Center – Mayor LaBonte 

o Lewiston Auburn Transit – Councilor Gerry 

o Airport, Railroad – Councilor Hayes 

o Bike-Ped Committee – Councilor Shea 

 Housing 

 



Au b u r n  C i t y  C o u n c i l  M e e t i n g  &  W o r k s h o p  
 November 4, 2013 

 

Page 2 of 3 

 

o Community Development Block Grant, Neighborhood Stabilization Program, 

Auburn Housing Authority – Councilor Gerry 

 Economic Development 

o L-A Economic Growth Council, Auburn Business Development Corporation  

 Education 

o Auburn School Committee – Councilor Young 

o Auburn Public Library – Councilor LaFontaine 

o Great Falls TV – Councilor Young and Councilor Shea 

 Environmental Services 

o Auburn Water District, Auburn Sewerage District – Councilor Crowley 

o Mid-Maine Waste Action Corp. – Councilor Walker 

 Recreation 

o Recreation Advisory Board  

 Public Safety 

o LA 911 – Councilor Walker 

 

             City Councilors’ Reports 

               

IV.    Communications, Presentations and Recognitions  

 

 Proclamation – Recognizing Chief of Police, Phil Crowell for being elected President of the 

Maine Chiefs of Police Association. 

 2013 Auburn Book Project Winner – Oliver Hall 

 

V.     Open Session – Members of the public are invited to speak to the Council about any issue directly related to 

                                              City business which is not on this agenda.  Time limit for open sessions, by ordinance, is 45 minutes.    

 

VI.    Unfinished Business 

 

1. Order 86-10072013  

Approving the renewal of an Auto Graveyard/Junkyard permit for Morris Auto Parts – 

Public hearing. 

 

Staff recommends that Council delay action on this item until December 16, 2013. 

 

VII.     New Business 
 

2. Ordinance 14-11042013  

Adopting an amendment to the Business licensing Code of Ordinances to include the 

definition of Garage Sales. First reading. 

 

VIII. Executive Session 

 

IX.  Open Session - Members of the public are invited to speak to the Council about any issue directly related to 

                                             City business which is not on this agenda. 

 

X. Adjournment 



Au b u r n  C i t y  C o u n c i l  M e e t i n g  &  W o r k s h o p  
 November 4, 2013 

 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 
Executive Session:  On occasion, the City Council discusses matters which are required or allowed by State law to be considered 

in executive session.  Executive sessions are not open to the public.  The matters that are discussed in executive session are 

required to be kept confidential until they become a matter of public discussion.  In order to go into executive session, a Councilor 

must make a motion in public.  The motion must be recorded, and 3/5 of the members of the Council must vote to go into 

executive session.  An executive session is not required to be scheduled in advance as an agenda item, although when it is known 

at the time that the agenda is finalized, it will be listed on the agenda. The only topics which may be discussed in executive session 

are those that fall within one of the categories set forth in Title 1 M.R.S.A. Section 405(6).  Those applicable to municipal 

government are: 

A. Discussion of personnel issues 

B. Discussion or consideration by a school board of suspension of expulsion 

C. Discussion or consideration of the condition, acquisition or the use of real or personal property permanently attached to 

real property or interests therein or disposition of publicly held property or economic development only if premature 

disclosures of the information would prejudice the competitive or bargaining position of the body or agency   

D. Labor contracts 

E. Contemplated litigation 

F. Discussions of information contained in records made, maintained or received by a body or agency when access by the 

general public to those records is prohibited by statute; 

G. Discussion or approval of the content of examinations administered by a body or agency for licensing, permitting or 

employment purposes; consultation between a body or agency and any entity that provides examination services to that 

body or agency regarding the content of an examination; and review of examinations with the person examined; and 

H. Consultations between municipal officers and a code enforcement officer representing the municipality pursuant to Title 

30-A, section 4452, subsection 1, paragraph in the prosecution of an enforcement matter pending in District Court when 

the consultation relates to that pending enforcement matter.  

 



City Council 

Workshop Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Lewiston/Auburn Economic Growth Council (LAEGC)  

 

Information: As a result of the workshop on the 21
st
 of October the Council requested additional information.  

Also a request was made by Councilor Walker and Crowley to consider bidding the services pursuant to the 

City bid policy.  These items are being presented for one discussion and workshop. 

 

Attached is memo going into further detail the research and information.  Some research is expected by Monday 

but in order to prepare the packet and continue the discussion all information available is included with more to 

come by Monday.   

 

In regards to schedule I would suggest the Council intend a final vote or decision on direction by December 2
nd

, 

2013. 

 

 

Financial: May impact future year budgets depending on final agreement. 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Continue discussion 

 

Previous Meetings and History: October 21, 2013 Workshop discussion 

 

 

Attachments:  

Agenda Item Request – Councilors Walker and Crowley 

2013 Chamber Strategic Plan 

Memo-Economic Development Services Model 2014 

City of Auburn Joint Purchasing and Procurement Policy 

Addendum to the Joint Purchasing and Procurement Policy 

Greater Portland Economic Development Corporation (GPEDC) Protocol and Handling of Prospects 

GPEDC Business Plan 2011-2013 

GPEDC Committee Accomplishments 

GPEDC By-Laws 

GPEDC Financial Report – August 2013 

10/21/2013 Workshop material 

Management and Operations Services Agreement 

Council Workshop Date:  November 4, 2013 Item  A 

Author:   Clint Deschene, City Manager 





















































































































































 



 



City Council 

Workshop Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     X Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Repurposing Ingersoll Arena Discussion 

 

Information: Need a workshop agenda item on the Ingersoll arena.  I contacted the City Manager weeks ago 

and expected it on the agenda in August. 

 

I do not want to mothball the Ingersoll facility.  The Council was told we’d have a plan and would celebrate all 

through the year.  Nothing has happened. 

 

This is actually a delinquent item- I have been waiting for Ingersoll information.  I had planned to go through 

the minutes of the last year and find how many times we were told we’d get an update and have a celebration 

for the transition. 

 

Financial: none 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting:  

 

Discussion 

 

Staff should review the records and update the council.  There should be a plan for the building and an 

implementation schedule.  I do not want the building closed.  The public worked hard for this facility and we 

should not just close it down- but convert it to an indoor athletic center.  

 

I’ve heard the Ingersoll Operations Manager is now the Dual arena operations person.  When was this decision 

made?  Where was the notice we were filling the dual arena operations position?  I expected to see a notice and 

be updated before more staff was hired.   

 

This change impacts the Ingersoll operation and seems to feed the plan to mothball the facility. 

 

Previous Meetings and History: None 

 

 

Attachments:   City Council Workshop Item Request Form- Leroy Walker 

   Memo- Ravi Sharma 

   DRAFT- Joint City Council Meeting Agenda, Lewiston City Hall, 12 Nov 13 

Council workshop Date:   November 4, 2013 Item  B 

Author:   Leroy Walker 



City Council 

Workshop Agenda Item Request Form  City of Auburn 

 

  

 

  Requesting Councilor’s Name:              Leroy Walker- Councilor Ward 5         updated 08. 25. 13            

 

  Second Councilor Name:           Tizz E. H. Crowley I support this request         updated 08.31.13 

 

Policy:  

              

Summary of Issue:   Need a workshop agenda item on the Ingersoll arena.  I contacted the City Manager 

weeks ago and expected it on the agenda in August. 

 

L. Walker comment: I do not want to mothball the Ingersoll facility.  The Council was told we’d have a plan 

and would celebrate all through the year.  Nothing has happened to date. Time is running out. 

 

From the Comprehensive Plan: Ingersoll Arena was constructed in 1994 by the City of Auburn in partnership 
with local business, civic organizations, individual contributions, and volunteer labor. It is funded through a 
City enterprise account and all proceeds are used to run the facility. The arena provides public skating, skating 
instruction, and hockey each season (early October to mid‐ March).   
 
L. Walker comment:  please note that the comp plan talks about local businesses and organizations helped to 
build Ingersoll. We should engage these groups in plans for future use. There was an ICE committee or report 
which outlines the expected operations of Ingersoll as it relates to the facility use and monies. I cannot put my 
hands on a copy of the report that I read last year. It may be in prior counsel information packets. I believe it 
was the Council that preceded us when Mike Farrell and Ron Potvin were on the Council. 
 
Continuing from the Comprehensive Plan: the comp plan states” Recreation • Explore the feasibility of 
developing a consolidated sports field complex to replace existing marginally useful facilities. “ 
 
L. Walker comment:  Ingersoll would make an excellent indoor sport facility. Following the comp plan and 
using in a citizens input group we could come up with a wonderful program that would provide adequate 
recreation facilities in Auburn per the comp plan goal “ Goal E.1: Provide for adequate recreation facilities in 
Auburn.” 
 
Continuing from the Comprehensive Plan: Objective E.1.1: Ensure that there are adequate municipal 
recreational facilities to meet the needs of residents throughout Auburn.  
 
Strategy E.1.1.a: Support ongoing funding through the capital improvement program (CIP) to improve existing 
park and recreation facilities. 
Strategy E.1.1.b: Assess the viability of developing a consolidated sports field complex to replace marginally 
useful fields throughout the community. If such a complex is determined to be viable, begin the process of 
acquiring a location and designing a facility. 
 Strategy H.1.2.d: Encourage neighborhoods to work with the Public Works Department and Parks and 
Recreation Department to maintain parks, community gardens, trails, and recreational facilities. (See 
Recreation Policies) The Auburn Comprehensive Plan is committed to protecting and enhancing recreation, 
open space, and cultural amenities within the community. As part of this work, the Plan encourages the City to 
collaborate with regional entities to develop an interconnected network of recreational and open space 
amenities that serve regional residents and visitors. 



City Council 

Workshop Agenda Item Request Form  City of Auburn 

 

  

 

 
L. Walker comment:  a plan for Ingersoll reuse should use the strategies outlined above from the comp plan.  It 
will be important to keep Ingersoll is an enterprise account where you can go out and solicit advertising 
sponsorship and business support. It does not need to rely solely on taxpayer dollars. 
 

The Council is always talking about policies; the comp plan clearly identifies a policy regarding recreation that 

would apply to the repurpose of Ingersoll.  

 
Continuing from the Comprehensive Plan: Policy Ch1‐E.1.1.b activity Recreation – assess viability of 
developing a consolidated sports field complex primary responsibility: Recreation Director.   Auburn has a 
strong commitment to provide recreational amenities. It has a robust recreation department that includes 
parks, fields, and indoor facilities. The department has recently undertaken a community wide survey and is 
committed to addressing the community’s recreational needs. Rural recreational opportunities are abundant 
and a number of nonprofit entities and recreational clubs ensure that residents have access to open spaces 
throughout the City. 
 
L. Walker comment:   the concept of policy outlined above is fine; however a recent change by the Council 
eliminates the recreation director position. Recreation is currently the direct responsibility of the City 
Manager. And although I know he is. Busy, we cannot sit for months or recreation and community activities 
are set aside. A strong commitment to recreation and community must continue. We have not had a robust 
creation department which probably recent changes. It will be important we move quickly to engage the 
community. 
 
Continuing from the Comprehensive Plan- The Recreation Advisory Board reviews and sets policy for the 
Parks & Recreation Department regarding program participation and conduct and establishes facility use rules.  
The board makes recommendations for the efficient use of facilities and personnel and applies for grants and 
other funding opportunities to support recreation program development. How can Auburn ensure that its 
recreation resources meet the needs of a changing population? 
 
L. Walker comment:   The city has not engaged the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board regarding reuse of 
Ingersoll arena. Since April most of the Advisory Board meetings have been canceled and therefore little to no 
work has been completed. Now that Recreation reports directly to the City Manager, citizen groups need to be 
call together to get the work done. In most cases the Advisory Board does not take formal votes so getting 
community members out for discussion and initial meeting of plans would not require a majority of the Parks 
and Recreation board members  to be in attendance. 
 
Continuing from the Comprehensive Plan- What measures are needed to provide Auburn residents access to 
the City’s parks, open spaces, and recreational opportunities? Options could include providing additional 
recreational opportunities in areas where they are lacking, and increasing transportation choices (bus, bike, 
and sidewalk development) to provide additional means for residents to get to existing opportunities. Cultural 
and recreational opportunities will be important factors in attracting and keeping both groups in Auburn. 
The higher‐end housing, executive job options and cultural and recreational amenities will help attract 
professionals. Auburn’s population in the coming years will include a variety of age and income groups. 



City Council 

Workshop Agenda Item Request Form  City of Auburn 

 

  

 

Ensuring a balance of services as well as a wide variety of housing, job, and recreational choices is critical. 
Invest in City infrastructure improvements, as needed, such as sidewalks and recreation facilities.  
 
L. Walker comment:  Ingersoll’s location here in the heart of the city meets much of the description above. A 
new indoor sports facility, on public transportation route, as well as accessible by bike or walk would be an 
excellent repurpose of the Ingersoll facility. Many different economic neighborhoods have access to Ingersoll 
and Pettengill Park.  With Ingersoll hasty's Memorial and Pettengill Park centrally located, Auburn could have a 
premier location for lifestyle leisure arts culture and recreational activities. 
 
Continuing from the Comprehensive Plan- Objective 2: Provide community-wide recreational opportunities. 
Support development and maintenance of community recreational facilities. 
 
Work with the Parks and Recreation Department to maintain and upgrade existing recreational facilities. Parks 
Advisory Board to help oversee the ongoing maintenance of community recreational facilities and identify 
future community recreation projects. 
 
Short term and ongoing actions:  

recommended action Maintain and upgrade existing recreation facilities (C.6.2.A.i)   
primary responsibility: Parks and Recreation Department  

recommended action: Maintain and upgrade existing recreation facilities (C.6.2.A.i)   
primary responsibility: Parks and Recreation Department 

The major theme that emerged was access providing all Auburn residents with opportunities for various types 
of recreational activities.  Increasing the number of parks and other recreational amenities (such as ice rinks, 
playgrounds, and teen facilities) was a priority for both the rural and urban neighborhoods.  
 
The cultural recreation vision – to focus on multi‐use community space and the promotion of arts and festivals. 
Participants focused on the need for community spaces ‐ areas for music, performances, and community 
gatherings.  

 

L. Walker comment:  we now have parks reporting to Public Works. A work plan and citywide review should 

be defined. This review process can be done by gathering citizens for input. We do not need to be spending tens 

of thousands of dollars for another report. Recreation now reports to the City Manager, so the responsibilities 

outlined above for the department should rest with the city manager until the City Council identifies where 

recreation, lifestyle, leisure, arts, and culture will ultimately be assigned. Since I believe all of these are tools to 

successful economic development, my recommendation is that recreation, lifestyle, leisure, arts, culture, and  

community events be part of the new economic development/community development department.  

 

Tizz’s addition to the form:  This is actually a delinquent item- I have been waiting for Ingersoll information.  I 

had planned to go through the minutes of the last year and find how many times we were told we’d get an 

update and have a celebration for the transition. 

 

Tizz’s update to new version:  I think Council Walker has covered all the points in the comprehensive plan and I 

have nothing to add regarding policies. 

 



City Council 

Workshop Agenda Item Request Form  City of Auburn 

 

  

 

Recommended Action for Consideration:  Staff should review the records and update the council.  There should 

be a plan for the building and an implementation schedule.  I do not want the building closed.  The public 

worked hard for this facility and we should not just close it down- but convert it to an indoor athletic center.  

 

I’ve heard the Ingersoll Operations Manager is now the Dual arena operations person.  When was this decision 

made?  Where was the notice we were filling the dual arena operations position?  I expected to see a notice and 

be updated before more staff was hired.   

 

Tizz’s addition to the form:  This change impacts the Ingersoll operation and seems to feed the plan to mothball 

the facility. 

 

Tizz’s update to new version: it is true that the Ingersoll's operation manager is now the operations manager  

for the dual sheet ice arena. I asked Josh McDonald about the situation when we did the tour last week. Josh 

told me the decision on the operation manager personnel had been made prior to his hiring and arrival. He 

referred me to the City Manager regarding the position and decision. I am disappointed that we did not follow 

the expected procedure to recruit personnel. I have nothing against the individual selected but believe this was 

a very competitive position. It was our intention to find the best candidate. We should have at least posted the 

job description and expected experience from applicants. The decision to remove the operations manager from 

Ingersoll clearly impacts Ingersoll's operation. Once again if the City Council had received timely and 

complete updates on Ingersoll arena we would have known that the key position of operation manager had been 

filled. I do understand day-to-day operations are the authority of the City Manager and personnel matters rest 

with him. Understanding his decision and selection process would be helpful in order to gain the greatest 

support by Councilors.   

  

Existing Policy References (Comp. Plan, etc): review of the Comp Plan should be sufficient.  The Parks and 

Recreation work plan for the last nine months has not included any information on plans for Ingersoll. I would 

expect a work plan to cover work items but clearly that doesn't happen. 

 

 

Committees of Jurisdiction (if applicable):  the committee structure for recreation which is we're Ingersoll in the 

dual sheet arena would rest has not yet been the line city Council so until it is defined by the city Council I 

believe the Council should review and take action. 
 

In order for a workshop item to be considered for an upcoming Auburn City Council Workshop agenda, please complete 

the above and present it at any time to the Mayor and City Manager.   Our goal is to have items requested on a workshop 

agenda within 90 days of the date received.   

 

 

DO NOT WRITE BELOW THIS LINE 

 

 

Date Received:    Received By: 

                 (City Manager) 

 

 

Date Received:    Received By: 

                      (Mayor) 



City Council 

Workshop Agenda Item Request Form  City of Auburn 

 

  

 

 

90 Day Date: 

 

 

Staff Assigned: 



City of Auburn, Maine 
“Maine’s City of Opportunity” 

___________________________      ______ 
Public Services Department 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TO:   Denis D’Auteuil, Public Services Director 

FROM:  Ravi Sharma, Recreation Director 

DATE:  10/24/13 

SUBJECT:  Ingersoll Reuse 

 

 

The following memo is intended to outline the approach for repurposing Ingersoll Arena going forward.  

 

With the completion of the new Norway Savings Bank Arena on the horizon, it is prudent to start 

discussion about Ingersoll Arena and what the future will hold for this facility. The building itself is 

approximately 25,000 square feet and has the potential for a variety of reuse purposes. From initial staff 

review, there are numerous issues with mechanical systems, heating systems, ADA accessibility, 

bathroom and locker facilities, building egress, life safety and the building envelope. Any version of 

repurposing the facility must consider these items and correct them as necessary. 

 

The City has already undertaken another process for evaluating recreation assets (Athletic Fields Needs 

Assessment). Phase II of the assessment will seek to evaluate existing facility conditions and make 

recommendations in terms of facility reuse, expansion, renovation, relocation, capacity to service 

parking, traffic circulation, athletic events, etc. The assessment could be modified to include Ingersoll 

Arena. Since there would be a change in scope of phase II, it would be recommended to re-bid this 

phase of the assessment. Realistically, the phase II assessment would take place in the spring/summer of 

2014.  

 

City staff supports the concept of including Ingersoll Arena in Phase II of the Athletic Fields Needs 

Assessment. During this phase we would require that a total assessment of Ingersoll Arena be included 

to clearly define its potential uses in its current condition as well as what investments would need to be 

made to make it a competitive, safe and useable building for various uses.  

 

With Phase II recommendations in hand, Council will attain a solid insight of all factors considered in 

assessing the functionality of the facility and also be provided with suggestions for repurposing of 

Ingersoll that can be used as a guide to the policy making process. Depending upon recommendations 

and Council’s ultimate direction, various areas of recreation could be impacted such as: program size 

and options, staffing needs, scheduling needs, operating budgets, capital budgets, etc. 

  

As a component of the public services concept, a reorganized and fully appointed recreation and special 

events advisory board would also review the phase II information with a focus on developing 

recommendations for future use of the facility. 



Additionally, to encourage citizen participation we would also solicit interested citizens to submit letters 

of interest for what they believe would be the future use of Ingersoll Arena. We would advertise this on 

the website, media outlets and at various City owned facilities such as City Hall and Hasty Gym during 

the public comment phase.  

 

 

 





City Council 

Workshop Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: LATC Discussion 

 

Information: The Mayor met with Phil Nadeau and one of their suggestions is to create a resolve to hire a 

consultant that would assist LATC to review operations, administration, oversight, maintenance, and routes to 

design a structure to operate the system. 

Mr. Nadeau as Chair of the LATC has created a memo (see attached) which he supports redirecting a $7,500 set 

aside for LATCs updated bus route study. This will assume that the LATC is not under any requirement to 

spend these funds within a certain amount of time for this purpose and there is no possibility of losing these 

funds in the event we do not complete the route study.  

Mr. Nadeau will ask that the matter be placed on the November 14th LATC agenda and will ask for the 

committee to support the use of these funds (with the conditions referenced above) as part of the funding Mayor 

Labonte is assembling to study the feasibility of a new transit manager position.  

It should be noted that the two last studies have produced significant ridership increase results. In the event that 

the City Councils pursue this transit position study, Mr. Nadeau will ask that new monies be set aside in our 

upcoming LATC FY15 budget to have the study done in the next federal fiscal year. 

 

Financial: none 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Discussion 

 

Previous Meetings and History: None 

 

Attachments:   

(1) Memo from Phil Nadeau 

(2) Draft Resolve- Joint City Council Meeting 12 Nov 13 

(3) Draft Agenda- Joint City Council Meeting 12 Nov 13 

 

 

 

  

Council Workshop Date:  November 4, 2013 Item  C 

Author:   Clinton Deschene 



City Hall• 27 Pine Street • Lewiston, Maine • 04240 • Voice Tel. 207-513-3121, X3201 •  Fax  207-795-5069 • TTY/TDD 207-784-5999 
                            Email:  pnadeau@lewistonmaine.gov    •      Visit us on the world wide web at:  www.lewistonmaine.gov 

The City of Lewiston does not discriminate against or exclude individuals from its municipal facilities, and/or in the delivery of its programs, 
activities and services based on an individual person's race, ancestry, color, religion, sex, age, physical or mental disability, veteran status, or 

limited English speaking ability.  For more information about this policy, contact or call Compliance Officer Mike Paradis at (V) 207-53-3121, 
(TTY) 207-513-3007, or email mparadis@lewistonmaine.gov 

 
 

1 

 

                                       The Office of 
               Deputy City Administrator 
                            Phil Nadeau 

                       MEMORANDUM 
 

 
TO: Clint Deschene, Auburn City Manager 

 
FR: Phil Nadeau, Chair, LATC  

 
CC:  

 
RE: LATC Reserve Funding for Transit Manager Study 

 
DT: 10.31.13 

 
The purpose of this memo is to communicate my support to redirect the $7,500 
set aside for LATCs updated bus route study.  This will assume that the LATC is 
not under any requirement to spend these funds within a certain amount of time 
for this purpose and there is no possibility of losing these funds in the event we 
do not complete the route study. 
 
I will ask that the matter be placed on the November 14th LATC agenda and will 
ask for the committee to support the use of these funds (with the conditions 
referenced above) as part of the funding Mayor Labonte is assembling to study 
the feasibility of a new transit manager position. 
 
It should be noted that the two last studies have produced significant ridership 
increase results.  In the event that the City Councils pursue this transit position 
study, I will ask that new monies be set aside in our upcoming LATC FY15 
budget to have the study done in the next federal fiscal year. 

mailto:pnadeau@lewistonmaine.gov
mailto:mparadis@lewistonmaine.gov


 

The City of Lewiston is an EOE. For more information, please visit our website @ www.ci.lewiston.me.us and 
click on the Non-Discrimination Policy. 

27 Pine Street    Lewiston, Maine 04240   Telephone (207) 513-3017   Fax (207) 784-2959 
 

Cities of Lewiston and Auburn, Maine 

Joint City Council Resolve 

November 12, 2013 
 
Resolve, To Authorize the Re-purposing of the Lewiston-Auburn Transit 

Committee (LATC) Capital Reserve Funding 
 
Whereas, the LATC was established by the City Councils of Lewiston and Auburn on 

September 10, 1976; and 
 
Whereas, the LATCs primary mission over the last 39 years has been to provide 

dependable, on-time fixed transit services to the residents of Lewiston and 
Auburn; and 

 
Whereas, reductions in federal and state transit funding have required all Maine fixed 

transit services to purchase lower cost and quality transit busses which have 
resulted in ongoing repairs and downtime which have been compounded by 
difficulties associated with parts availability; and 

 
Whereas, sixty percent of the LATC fleet is dependent on two Thomas/SLF busses that 

have recently been permanently removed from operations and four Blue Bird 
busses that continue to be plagued by ongoing mechanical problems and 
parts availability; and 

 
Whereas, LATC will no longer be able to leverage a number of Western Maine 

Transportation Service (WMTS) owned busses that must be reassigned to 
contractual coverage for the Sunday River and Sugarloaf areas; and 

 
Whereas, the combination of WMTS bus inventory reductions coupled with the 

questionable dependability of Blue Bird busses will require the LATC to look at 
a number of operational options to keep all seven bus routes fully covered 
which shall include, but will not be limited to short term bus leasing, used bus 
purchasing, existing bus rebuilds and mid-life overhauls; 

 
 
Now, therefore, be it Resolved by the Joint City Councils of the Cities of 
Lewiston and Auburn that  
 
in the face of an uncertain future regarding the prospects for new transit bus funding, 
the Lewiston-Auburn Transit Committee is authorized to immediately re-purpose 
existing and future capital reserve funding to pursue the most cost effective options to 
include, but not be limited to repairing, leasing, rebuilding, overhauling, and purchasing 
used or new busses that will help to reestablish levels of service dependability and 
quality that are desired by the residents and City Councils of Lewiston and Auburn. 



 

1 – DRAFT LATC JOINT COUNCIL REPORT – 11.1.13 
 

DRAFT  
LEWISTON-AUBURN JOINT CITY COUNCIL WORKSHOP  

AGENDA 
TUESDAY, November 12, 2013 

 6:00 PM 
 

1. Review of Purchasing and Maintenance History – Operational Impacts 
 
LATC is currently operating 8 routes and has had a fleet of 10 vehicles.  Of these, 2 are SLF 
buses and 4 are Blue Bird buses.  Based on the Halsey King Associates review of the fleet, the 
2 SLF buses have been removed from service due to severe corrosion of the bus frames.  
MDOT has identified all SLF buses state wide for advance disposal because of this issue.  This 
includes LATC’s and 5 similar units in service in the Bangor area.  (Note that advance disposal 
may require a partial reimbursement of federal funds initially used to purchase these units.)  
This has reduced the fleet to 8 buses and eliminated reserve units.  LATC has also experienced 
severe problems in obtaining parts for the 4 Bluebird’s resulting in lengthy downtimes.  For 
example, one unit has been out of service since June waiting replacement fuel tank straps 
which we are now having custom made by the Maine Military Authority in Limestone.  Given 
the removal of the SLFs from service and parts availability for the Blue Birds, LATC’s route 
schedule has been maintained through using Mountain Explorer Buses made available by 
Western Maine.  These buses will no longer be available since they will be returning to winter 
service in the Western Mountains.  This will make it difficult to maintain the current route 
schedule and service.  We would like to brief the Council’s on this situation and outline 
potential impacts and alternatives of an inadequate bus supply to support the current system. 
 

2. Review of Halsey King Associates Report 
 
As a result of the concerns raised by Merwin Consulting and MDOT, the Lewiston Auburn 
Transit Committee and Western Maine Transportation agreed to share the cost of contracting 
with Halsey King Associates, a nationally recognized transit fleet maintenance consultant, to 
review Western Maine’s maintenance operations and bus fleet.  We would like to review that 
report with you.  
 

3.  Update on Status of Western Maine Transportation Improvement/Compliance Efforts 
 
In June of this year, Merwin Vehicle Consulting reviewed vehicle maintenance policies, 
practices, and procedures used by Western Maine Transportation and identified a number of 
areas where improvements were required to ensure compliance with State and Federal 
regulations.  We would like to review the status of Western Maine’s improvement efforts with 
you.  A status update is attached. (This will be provided close to the meeting date so it is 
current.) 

 
4.  Proposal to Re-Purpose Capital Reserve Funding 

 
LATC is requesting approval from both councils to repurpose the reserve for replacement 
accounts established by both cities to allow for greater flexibility in addressing immediate fleet 
needs.  These funds are currently dedicated to providing the local share for new bus 
purchases.  Given that state and federal funds are not available for new buses and the likely 
inability of LATC to maintain its current routes and schedules with a smaller fleet that is 
significantly dependent upon Blue Birds, the request is to redirect these reserve funds to other 



 

2 – DRAFT LATC JOINT COUNCIL REPORT – 11.1.13 
 

purposes including the potential purchase of used vehicles and possible mid-life overhauls of 
the Blue Birds to extend their useful life from 2018 to 2022 (at a local share of 20% of total 
cost).  These funds may also be needed to reimburse a portion of the FTA funds used to 
purchase the SLF units.  
 

Invitees to meeting:  Sue Moreau, MDOT; Marsha Bennett, LATC; LATC Board Members; Sandy 
Buchanan, Western Maine Transportation. 

 
  



 

3 – DRAFT LATC JOINT COUNCIL REPORT – 11.1.13 
 

DRAFT LATC BUS JOINT COUNCIL REPORT - 11.1.13 
 

EXCUTIVE SUMMARY 
The following report continues to be a working draft. The final report, with all available 

information, will be released for the November 12, 2013 joint council meeting on  
November 7, 2013 

 
 

• 60% of LATCs inventory involve busses that have been identified either by MDOT 
(applicable to SLFs) or LATC (applicable to Blue Birds) as busses that are not built to 
standards that will allow them to achieve their FTA useful life of 12 years. 
 

• LATC Blue Bird busses have had a history of poor construction, inferior mechanical parts 
and poor parts availability beginning with the April 2007 episode which saw all four 
busses placed out of service when defective bolt installations were discovered. 

 
• LATC has a well-documented public history of its unhappiness with Blue Birds beginning 

with the “Big 5” press conference held in February 2009. 
 

• Merwin’s 6/18/13 report to MDOT highlighted safety violations associated with WMTS 
maintenance practices following complaints from drivers. 

 
• Following Merwin’s report, WMTS immediately works with MDOT and FTA to develop a 

plan to address findings in report. 
 

• LATC is advised of Merwin report on 8/14/13 and immediately embarks on a process 
which results in the hiring of a noted national transit maintenance expert to conduct a 
week long review of WMTS procedures and LATC bus conditions---King is on site at 
WMTS on 9/23/13. 

 
• LATC and WMTS support Merwin’s findings on PM protocols, inspections and limited 

findings on actual mechanical/parts violations (WMTS submitted some clarifications to 
those findings) but disagrees with Merwin statements about PM and maintenance 
practices adding cost to system. 

 
• LATC conducts its own cost analysis of BAT busses and LATC busses. Findings do not 

support Merwin’s allegations regarding higher costs for LATC busses. 
 

• Though King’s report is not available for the draft to be reviewed by Auburn Council on 
11/4/13, discussions with King reveal that more information about Blue Bird busses will 
support what LATC has been stating publicly about the bus construction quality, parts 
quality, and parts availability impacting not only costs but bus dependability. 

 
• LATC submits a proposed, but not finalized, work outline to provide some possible 

scenarios as to how it would address its current bus fleet inventory challenges. 
 

 
 
 

 



 

4 – DRAFT LATC JOINT COUNCIL REPORT – 11.1.13 
 

AGENDA ITEM 1. Review of Purchasing and Maintenance 
History & Operational Impacts 

 
 

 
 
 Generally speaking, bus purchasing for all transit in Maine has been handled through 

MDOT per state statute.  Developing bus specs has been a collaborative effort between the 
5 fixed transit operations, but, ultimately, MDOT had final signoff and also is issued title to 
all busses up through 2012. We now have all titles with the exception of the SLFs which 
remain under MDOT control.  There will be more changes once all fixed transit operators 
become direct recipients with the understanding that nothing will prohibit the “big 5” from 
continuing to develop specs and bids jointly with or without the MDOT (currently, Metro in 
Portland is an FTA direct recipient and capable of purchasing its own busses—they have 
participated in group purchasing with MDOT). 

 According to FTA regulations, our maximum bus inventory capacity should be 10 busses. 
Given the poor quality of busses that this state has been forced to buy due to insufficient 
transit funding to meet statewide needs, we are now saddled with a large number of 
busses that have either required removal from the fleet (two Thomas/SLF busses) or have 
been historically undependable (Blue Birds). That means that 60% of LATCs will most likely 
not achieve their FTA mandated useful life. 



 

5 – DRAFT LATC JOINT COUNCIL REPORT – 11.1.13 
 

 April 2007 – A loose bolt, which holds the suspension together, is discovered by WMTS 
maintenance on one of the Blue Bird units (the bolt was actually broken) which triggers the 
WMTS inspection of the other 3 Blue Birds.  Loose bolts are discovered on all of them and 
WMTS states they believe that this problem originated at the time the busses were 
manufactured. All busses are removed from the road until the bolts can be replaced. 

 July 2008 – All 4 Blue Birds were taken off the road after discovery of defective suspension 
springs.  After a month or more with all 4 busses out of service and being advised that 
these busses (still under warranty) have no parts available to fix them, Nadeau contacted 
MDOT to pressure them to authorize the manufacture of the parts which is ultimately 
agreed to by MDOT.  Busses are back on the road in September. 

 Fall 2008 - After back-to-back years of Blue Bird episodes involving wholesale out-of-
service actions associated with parts/manufacturing quality and parts availability, Nadeau 
approached all Maine fixed transit operators who assembled for the first time to discuss an 
effort to go public with concerns regarding fixed transit funding in Maine. LATC assumed 
role as lead agency in this effort. 

 With the support of the LATC, Greater Portland Transit District Metro, Bangor Area 
Transportation Connector (BAT), and the South Portland Transportation and Waterfront 
Department/South Portland Bus Service (Biddeford/Saco “Shuttlebus” service elected not to 
participate), a joint letter was issued to our congressional delegation (1/30/09) which 
identified some of the concerns experienced by Maine’s largest fixed-transit operators: 
• Lewiston-Auburn’s system is dependent on transit busses from Sugarloaf and Sunday 

River in the warm months (no longer available as they are now being used) and a lease 
with a local charter bus company to provide the system with a back-up bus to support a 
fleet of busses that is aging and unreliable given its four Blue Bird busses that cannot be 
supported dependably by its vendor. 

• Portland METRO is operating ten 1990 busses with over 700,000 miles on the fleet and  
remains vigilant for FTA custodial transfers of used buses–if unsuccessful, METRO will 
procure used buses in the private sector during 2009 to meet existing service levels. 

• 43% of South Portland’s fleet is over 12 years old.  Due to the age and overall condition 
of their fleet, South Portland has already expended $107,000 on maintenance – which is 
$30,000 ABOVE the budgeted amount ...and they are only half way through the fiscal 
year.  

• Nearly half of BAT Community Connectors fleet has met the federal requirements for 
replacement and they are investing over $100,000 in two buses that are in their 13th 
year of operation.  

 
 The 2008 fixed transit operators meetings led not only to issuing the first ever 

congressional joint letter on fixed transit, it also set the platform for a 2/9/09 
statewide news conference which was hosted by the “big 5”. The event not only 
brought additional attention to our fleet challenges but also assisted in Maine 
securing ARRA funding for new Gillig busses (we received 3) which did not require 
any local match. 

 The 2/9/09 press conference also provided the following info in a prepared handout 
(it should be noted that the combination of Blue Birds and SLFs represent 60% of 
our fleet): 
“LATC’s citylink service requires seven buses to operate its nine routes. Under 
Federal regulations LATC is allowed to carry three spare vehicles in its fleet. At this 
time, LATC has seven buses and no spares. In addition to operating with no spares, 
parts are difficult and timely to obtain for both the Thomas SLF’s and the BlueBird 



 

6 – DRAFT LATC JOINT COUNCIL REPORT – 11.1.13 
 

LF’s. Manufacturing of the Thomas SLF ended shortly after delivery of LATC’s buses 
and BlueBird has only manufactured a total of approximately 250 LF buses country 
wide. 
 
Since the BlueBird’s were put into service (August of 2006), there have been two 
occasions where all four buses have been taken off the road at the same time to 
address mechanical issues. In both instances the problem was an easy repair; 
however, the time required to secure the parts impacted operations. In 2008, WMTS 
ran an average of three SugarLoaf Explorer buses an average of three buses per day 
for a 135 day period. This equals approximately 4,400 hours of service or one- 
quarter of citylink ’s annual hours of operations. If WMTS did not have the use of 
these vehicles, citylink service would have been significantly reduced or shut down 
due to the lack of spare buses in LATC’s fleet.” 
 
In the press kit, BAT also offered the following about their Thomas/SLF fleet (we 
believe that all SLF’s purchased in the state are now off the road with the possible 
exception of one which may only be used as a spare bus): 
“Two buses have exceeded their useful life and six more have exceeded the Federal 
guidelines for replacement due to age, mileage, or both.  Another seven (SLFs), 
although not yet eligible for replacement, have the highest per mile maintenance 
cost in the fleet.  The remaining three are more recent acquisitions.” 
 
 

 LATC efforts to address fleet issues did not end with the press conference. On 
9/27/11, Marsha Bennett, Greg Whitney and Nadeau met with Sue Moreau and Mike 
Merwin to discuss ongoing LATC concerns regarding Blue Bird mechanical problems 
and parts availability.  Merwin’s position was that the bus we received was 
manufactured according to our specifications and, if we were experiencing 
problems, we should hold ourselves accountable for the problems—he also implied 
that we simply were not doing enough to address the part issues. We disagree with 
the assessment as the RFP was jointly reviewed by all fixed transit operators 
participating in the bid, an RFP where MDOT had final approval authority as they 
possessed title to all the vehicles. 

 The 9/27/11 meeting followed MDOT’s announcement during the summer that 
efforts were underway by MDOT to remove all SLFs from the road and to find a way 
around the FTA “useful life” reimbursement issue. 

 After repeatedly sharing concerns regarding the Blue Birds with MDOT, nothing has 
changed regarding parts availability and we continue to experience parts failures 
that have no relationship to “PM” (preventive maintenance). We anticipate that the 
Halsey report will clearly demonstrate that the significant majority of Blue Bird 
downtime is directly related to a bus which had limited production (only 250 built); 
was poorly engineered; and had tested poorly in the Altoona report when the MDOT 
took possession of the busses in 2006. 

 In the interim, MDOT continues to work with all transit operators to remove the 
SLFs from our inventories (LATC has two SLFs which were removed from service in 
September 2013) and is working with FTA to change what was classified as a twelve 



 

7 – DRAFT LATC JOINT COUNCIL REPORT – 11.1.13 
 

year bus to a ten year bus which will significantly reduce financial exposures for 
operators who otherwise would need to reimburse FTA for the remaining useful life 
of the busses. 

 Following the notice we were given in mid-August 2013 about the results of the 
June 2013 Merwin report, LATC took immediate action to meet with WMTS to assess 
what actions had been taken by them to address the report.  The following is a 
summary of the chronology of those actions: 

1. July 2013 – MDOT reviews Merwin’s June 2013 report with WMTS. FTA has 
been advised of Merwin’s report on 6.26.13 and approves the action plan. 

2. 8/14/13 – First notice by Sue Moreau advising Marsha Bennett of driver 
complaint regarding one of LATC’s busses and discusses Merwin’s report. 
Bennett emails me to advise Nadeau of situation. Nadeau forwards Bennett 
8/14/13 email (to Nadeau) to the Lewiston Council and Clint Deschene to 
advise them of situation. 

3. 8/15/13 – Moreau emails Bennett with Merwin report and the July 2013 
action plan agreed to by MDOT/WMTS in response to Merwin report. Email 
has FTA letter that concurs with MDOT/WMTS action plan. 

4. 8/15/13 – Nadeau and Bennett meet with WMTS to discuss driver complaint 
and Merwin report. Nadeau asks for all information regarding situation to get 
a full understanding of all that is involved both with the Merwin report and 
the driver complaints 

5. 8/16/13 – LATC committee is given notice of WMTS issue in posted agenda. 
Staff continues to collect information to be provided to LATC committee at 
meeting. 

6. 8/22/13 – All known information about Merwin report and updates on fleet 
condition relative to the MDOT/WMTS maintenance action plan are shared 
with committee. Committee authorizes Nadeau to negotiate a contract with 
WMTS for a third party review of the bus fleet and maintenance practices 
with a cap of $5,000 and to authorize the expenditure from local funds only 
so that we are not limited by federal bidding requirements which are required 
if federal funds are used. 

7. 8/27/13 – Nadeau emails LATC committee, Lewiston City Council and Clint 
Deschene with new information about Merwin’s discovery of sealed windows 
and LATC’s vote to hire independent expert to conduct a “top down review” 
of WMTS maintenance operations and our busses. 

8. 8/30/13 – WGME does a piece on the LATC bus situation. 
9. 9/10/13 – Nadeau emails LATC committee, Lewiston City Council and Clint 

Deschene with update on progress of WMTS action plan and that 
LATC/WMTS are close to settling on agreement to hire Halsey King. 

10. 9/19/13 – Nadeau issues a press release announcing the LATC/WMTS 
contract for Halsey King’s services. 

11. 9/23/13 – Halsey King arrives at WMTS.  He departs on 9/27/13 
12. 9/27/13 – During an inspection by Halsey King, detection of advanced 

corrosion on both Thomas/SLF busses results in both busses being taken out 
of service indefinitely.  Loss of SLFs will impact our ability to cover routes. 
Decision is made to present route contingency plan at Oct 10th LATC meeting. 



 

8 – DRAFT LATC JOINT COUNCIL REPORT – 11.1.13 
 

13. 9/30/13 – Tim McCabe from Maine Military Authority contacts Bennett to ask 
if we would like to have him come to WMTS to see what they might be able 
to do for LATC busses—specifically the Blue Birds and the SLFs. 

14. 10/1/13 – Tim McCabe arrives at WMTS to evaluate busses for possible rehab 
work.  Advises us that they are currently rehabbing a Blue Bird in Limestone.  

15. 10/10/13 – LATC meeting – 95% of agenda is dedicated to updating 
committee on WMTS maintenance action plan; possible actions to replace SLF 
busses; discussion on buying used busses; and impacts on capital planning. 
LATC approves action to request approval from both councils to repurpose 
the reserve-for-replacement account to authorize expenditures for possible 
leasing, used bus purchasing, rehabbing of existing busses, and any 
manufacturer recommended mid-life rebuilds (as recommended by Gillig). 
Clint Deschene, in attendance at the meeting, is advised of Nadeau’s request 
to have both he and Ed Barrett approach their mayors and councils to 
schedule a joint council meeting in early to mid-November so that the details 
of the Halsey report (due in late October) can be shared and so that Nadeau 
can share and discuss information to support the LATC’s request to have both 
councils approve the repurposing of its reserve-for-replacement account. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

9 – DRAFT LATC JOINT COUNCIL REPORT – 11.1.13 
 

 LATC Purchase Breakdown for SLF and Blue Bird busses: 
 

 
 

 It should be noted that our fleet of 10 busses is now down to 8 with the SLFs now parked 
indefinitely. Our system is now even more vulnerable (compared to our LATC press material 
in 2009) given the condition of the Blue Birds and the planned departure of the WMTS 
“mountain” busses in mid-November. 

 
 

NOTE: should read “El Dorado”-state bonding was $21,266. Purchase utilized WMTS capital 
grant funding and local share was provided by the state.



 

10 – DRAFT LATC JOINT COUNCIL REPORT – 11.1.13 
 

AGENDA ITEM 2.  Review of Halsey King Associates 
Report 

 
As of 10/31/13, no draft report has been received 

though Mr. King advised Nadeau yesterday that a draft 
should be in hand on by the end of business on 

10/31/13.  King also advised Nadeau that the report 
will provide information which may serve as possible 
grounds to pursue litigation involving one of the LATC 
bus manufacturers.  Given the possibility for litigation, 

the draft and final reports will be reviewed by LATC 
attorney Kelly Matzen before either the draft or final 

document is publicly released.  It is possible that WMTS 
may also choose to have the report reviewed by their 

attorney as well.  If possible, certain key excerpts from 
the report may be issued in advance of the full reports 

release.  King has advised that given the volume of 
issues he has uncovered about one particular bus 

manufacturer in the course of his investigation, the 
final report may not be released until late November.



 

11 – DRAFT LATC JOINT COUNCIL REPORT – 11.1.13 
 

AGENDA ITEM 3. Update on Status of Western Maine 
Transportation Improvement/Compliance Efforts 

 
On June 18, 2013, Mike Merwin of Merwin Consulting Inc. (contracted to perform a variety of 

transit related services for his former employer, the Maine Dept. of Transportation) submitted a letter 
to Susan Moreau, Multi-Modal Planning & Operations Unit Manager outlining what he found during a 
number of inspections which appear to have taken place between April 3, 2013 and May 29, 2013. The 
initial inspection was triggered by WMTS driver complaints about possible safety violations on three 
busses owned by LATC (this report will not address any of the comments/findings attributed to other 
busses owned and operated by WMTS). The busses in question were bus #0202 (Thomas/SLF); bus 0802 
(El Dorado); and bus #0603 (Blue Bird). 

 
At the outset, it is important to note that not only have LATC and WMTS addressed the Merwin 

report by taking immediate action to not only respond to Merwin’s list of ten recommended action 
steps to be taken by WMTS (see latest update responses in this section  from MDOT below dated 
10/28/13), but WMTS has also implemented some of the recommendations provided by Halsey King 
during his September 2013 review of the WMTS facility (e.g., the reconfiguration of one bus bay which is 
now a dedicated area for bus inspection and the purchase of a “brakeometer” to provide more timely 
and quicker brake testing results). 

 
Merwin’s 6/18/13 comments regarding the three LATC busses are noteworthy of further 

discussion in this section.  Merwin stated: “LATC bus 0603 had no non-compliant issues. This vehicle 
had been recently repaired and received a current Maine Commercial Vehicle Inspection sticker on 
April 1, 2013 at Greeley's Garage in Auburn, Maine. The complaint by the LATC operator associated 
with LATC buses 0802 and 0202 were determined to be valid and indicated the reported safety 
issues did exist.” 
 
 What was not stated in the report was the following:  In addition to there being no 
reportable safety concerns on Blue Bird #0603, WMTS responded as follows to those reportable 
conditions regarding the other two busses: 
   
(Email from M. Bennett to P. Nadeau on 10/29/13) “I spoke to Harold about these three buses that 
were inspected as part of M. Merwin’s report. 
 
0802 – The bus was on the road in-service with an expired inspection sticker. The driver did the required 
pre-trip and took the bus anyway. It didn’t have a sticker because the ABS light was on (WMTS 
maintenance was aware of the ABS and was working on it). WMTS has since placed a greater emphasis 
on driver protocol, and has increased protocol between drivers and maintenance. 
 
0202 – The noted air leak was found when MaineDOT put the bus up to do the inspection. The air leak 
had not been reported by the driver at any time. Harold said there was no way of knowing that there 
was an issue. Parts were ordered for the damaged passenger door. The door was fully functioning but 
was damaged. The damaged door did not create any issues with passengers 
 
0603 – no issues.  Harold thinks that the speedometer/odometer issue stated actually refers to 0604.” 
 
The WMTS response demonstrates three things very clearly.  Driver comments about bus #0603 were 
not supported by the inspection.  Bus #0802 demonstrated that the bus drivers themselves were either 
not sufficiently aware or were intentionally disregarding safety protocols meant to protect their safety.  



 

12 – DRAFT LATC JOINT COUNCIL REPORT – 11.1.13 
 

WMTS is now working to ensure that new procedures prevent this kind of safety violation from 
happening again. 
 
Bus #0202 (Thomas/SLF is now permanently out-of-service) had an air leak that was virtually impossible 
to detect unless you were literally under the bus which explains why no one, including the bus drivers, 
knew the airline was malfunctioning (believed to be associated with the ABS system concerns in the 
letter). 
 
Though Merwin fails to mention Blue Bird bus #0604, Harold Allen (WMTS Transportation Supervisor) 
believes that the malfunctioning speedometer/odometer issues mentioned were associated with this 
bus and will be addressed by WMTS as part of the ongoing repair process (it has not returned to the 
road as there are a number of repairs that cannot be done due to parts availability).  Additionally, Allen 
clarifies in the Bennett email that the bus door was damaged but was fully functional---not expressed 
anywhere in the Merwin report. 
 
The combination of the very detailed steps to address safety, state inspections and “On-Time PM 
Reviews” (scheduled manufacturer warranty work and any work specified in federal/state regulations), 
which both the LATC and WMTS agree must be compliant so that they meet all of the conditions 
expressed by Merwin, have either been addressed or are in the process of having administrative and 
software systems in place to be fully compliant.  Additionally, outside of clarifying some of what was 
articulated in Merwin’s 6/18/13 report, neither WMTS nor LATC have ever publicly disputed the findings 
as they applied to reporting, required PM oversights and some bus operations that involved LATC busses 
on the road with reportable safety issues such as the ABS light (which has been a problematic part on 
the El Dorado). 
 
Neither WMTS nor LATC have ever minimized the matter of bus safety either for its passengers or its 
drivers. This was immediately evident in the rather unprecedented decision to hire the noted national 
bus fleet maintenance expert Halsey King to provide LATC and WMTS a 3rd party, unbiased opinion of 
WMTS maintenance operations and the condition of LATC’s fleet with a focus on the Blue Birds and the 
SLFs’. 
 
This commitment to hire King has not been recognized by Merwin in any of his reports.  Beyond 
Merwin’s noticeable lack of recognition of this very important decision to hire King, most concerning to 
both WMTS and LATC was Merwin’s following closing statement in the report which stated that 
“…(t)hese non-compliant and unsafe WMTS Operation and Maintenance practices and policies have 
potentially jeopardized the WMTS and LATC, Federal and State of Maine funding status…. (and) has 
increased the Agencies cost associated with scheduled and unscheduled repairs, created unnecessary 
vehicle downtime, increased operating costs and greatly decrease(d) the intended life cycle of the 
vehicles. “  
 
Not only does the LATC and WMTS find Merwin’s statements needlessly inflammatory, there is very 
strong evidence to demonstrate that Merwin’s allegations (he offers no evidence to support the 
statement) of “…increased operating costs and greatly decreased… intended life cycle of the vehicles” 
are conjecture given the complete absence of any evidence to support that opinion. 
 
In preparing a response to these assertions from Merwin, LATC requested that the Bangor Area 
Community Connector (Formerly Bangor Area Transportaiton (BAT) Connector---will be herein referred 
to as “BAT” for brevity) provide us with documents showing the full life cycle costs of a number of 
busses in their inventory.  We elected to approach BAT given that Merwin has never publicly reported 
any concerns regarding BAT maintenance operations (based on our experience and an internet search of 



 

13 – DRAFT LATC JOINT COUNCIL REPORT – 11.1.13 
 

for public criticism from Merwin or MDOT about BATs maintenance practices).  Additionally, given BAT’s 
large inventory of SLF’s, and it would be assumed, his support of BATs fleet maintenance practices with 
six SLFs (all out of service), one Blue Bird, and five Gilligs, we wanted to analyze their full life  
maintenance costs and compare them to same model WMTS maintained LATC busses.  The following 
was extracted from documents submitted to LATC by WMTS and BAT: 
 
 

LA
TC/W

M
TS BU

SSES A
S O

F 10/28/13
VEH

ICLE
(PU

RCH
 YR)

U
N

ITS(M
ILES)

M
ISC

O
U

TSID
E

TIRES
LA

BO
R

PA
RTS

A
D

J TO
T CO

ST
CPM

A
ve

2
0
1

S
L
F
 
(
O
O
S
)

1
5
7
4
6
3

1
,
2
5
4

$
 
 
 
 

3
1
,
7
5
2

$
 
 
 

4
,
9
3
7

$
 
 
 
 

1
8
,
0
6
5

$
 
 
 

6
3
,
9
1
0

$
 
 
 

1
1
9
,
9
1
8

$
 
 
 

0.76
SLF

2
0
2

S
L
F
 
(
O
O
S
)

1
9
4
7
2
2

4
,
7
7
9

$
 
 
 
 

2
0
,
9
4
6

$
 
 
 

7
,
4
6
2

$
 
 
 
 

2
6
,
1
6
5

$
 
 
 

4
7
,
1
3
5

$
 
 
 

1
0
6
,
4
8
7

$
 
 
 

0.55
SLF

0.65
6
0
1

B
l
u
e
 
B
i
r
d

1
9
2
0
2
0

5
,
2
1
2

$
 
 
 
 

1
5
,
5
4
5

$
 
 
 

1
3
,
3
5
8

$
 
 
 

2
6
,
8
8
0

$
 
 
 

8
9
,
9
8
3

$
 
 
 

1
5
0
,
9
7
8

$
 
 
 

0.79
Blue Bird

6
0
2

B
l
u
e
 
B
i
r
d

1
7
5
6
2
9

5
,
9
2
7

$
 
 
 
 

5
1
,
8
6
3

$
 
 
 

9
,
3
8
8

$
 
 
 
 

2
7
,
7
7
2

$
 
 
 

8
0
,
2
6
8

$
 
 
 

1
7
5
,
2
1
8

$
 
 
 

1.00
Blue Bird

6
0
3

B
l
u
e
 
B
i
r
d

2
3
8
8
3
8

8
,
8
3
5

$
 
 
 
 

1
0
3
,
6
0
9

$
 
 

1
7
,
2
7
7

$
 
 
 

2
6
,
4
3
0

$
 
 
 

7
3
,
4
4
9

$
 
 
 

2
2
9
,
6
0
1

$
 
 
 

0.96
Blue Bird

6
0
4

B
l
u
e
 
B
i
r
d

1
6
2
4
3
8

5
,
0
2
1

$
 
 
 
 

2
5
,
9
4
7

$
 
 
 

9
,
5
0
7

$
 
 
 
 

2
6
,
0
9
6

$
 
 
 

7
2
,
6
5
8

$
 
 
 

1
3
9
,
2
2
9

$
 
 
 

0.86
Blue Bird

0.90
8
0
2

E
l
 
D
o
r
a
d
o

8
2
1
2
0

1
,
8
0
0

$
 
 
 
 

1
1
,
6
6
4

$
 
 
 

3
,
7
0
7

$
 
 
 
 

9
,
9
1
6

$
 
 
 
 

2
6
,
7
4
5

$
 
 
 

5
3
,
8
3
3

$
 
 
 
 

0.66
El D

orado
0.66

1
1
0
1

G
i
l
l
i
g

8
6
7
2
4

2
,
0
8
5

$
 
 
 
 

1
0
,
4
8
1

$
 
 
 

2
,
8
5
6

$
 
 
 
 

3
,
7
0
0

$
 
 
 
 

3
,
6
5
7

$
 
 
 
 

2
2
,
7
8
0

$
 
 
 
 

0.26
Gillig

1
1
0
2

G
i
l
l
i
g

7
6
7
0
3

1
,
6
2
2

$
 
 
 
 

8
,
9
9
4

$
 
 
 
 

4
,
5
5
7

$
 
 
 
 

3
,
8
0
6

$
 
 
 
 

3
,
1
3
6

$
 
 
 
 

2
2
,
1
1
6

$
 
 
 
 

0.29
Gillig

1
1
0
3

G
i
l
l
i
g

8
3
2
3
8

1
,
6
3
3

$
 
 
 
 

6
,
5
0
1

$
 
 
 
 

2
,
4
1
3

$
 
 
 
 

4
,
5
6
7

$
 
 
 
 

1
6
,
0
7
8

$
 
 
 

3
1
,
1
9
2

$
 
 
 
 

0.37
Gillig

0.31

BA
T BU

SSES A
S O

F 10/25/13
0314

SLF (O
O

S)
A

ug-02
285593

257,988.00
$       

0.90
SLF

0315
SLF (O

O
S)

A
ug-02

328469
213,286.00

$       
0.65

SLF
0316

SLF (O
O

S)
A

ug-02
255312

155,368.00
$       

0.61
SLF

0317
SLF (O

O
S)

Sep-02
262909

181,326.00
$       

0.69
SLF

0318
SLF (O

O
S)

Sep-02
277192

164,936.00
$       

0.60
SLF

0319
SLF (O

O
S)

Sep-02
288292

226,743.00
$       

0.79
SLF

0.71
0621

Blue Bird
D

ec-05
210257

240,799.00
$       

1.15
Blue Bird

1.15
1046

Gillig
A

pr-11
149510

34,654.00
$         

0.23
Gillig

1047
Gillig

A
pr-11

134587
36,444.00

$         
0.27

Gillig
1048

Gillig
A

pr-11
91939

29,148.00
$         

0.32
Gillig

1049
Gillig

A
pr-11

98696
37,455.00

$         
0.38

Gillig
1050

Gillig
A

pr-11
77970

20,854.00
$         

0.27
Gillig

0.29



 

14 – DRAFT LATC JOINT COUNCIL REPORT – 11.1.13 
 

 
A few caveats in advance of this report’s findings.  We have done our best to ensure that the analysis of 
costs closely approximates an “apples to apples” comparison.  Both sets of data exclude fuel and fluids 
used for PM.  It is likely that labor costs may not be identical and that there was some variation in the 
cost of certain parts.  In the end, however, Merwin’s allegations about cost are rooted in what 
LATC/WMTS and BAT has spent to maintain the busses so we have a high degree of confidence that the 
data supports the findings below. 
 
It should also be noted that LATC believes that BAT is one of the top performing fixed transit operations 
in this state and it is assumed that Merwin believes this as well.  LATC/WMTS assumes that BAT can be 
considered somewhat of the “gold standard” to compare itself against.  With that said the following 
summary provides cost-per-mile comparisons that speak for themselves: 
 

1. Ave. CPM (cost per mile) of LATC SLFs: $0.65; ave. CPM for BAT SLFs: $0.71 
2. Ave. CPM of LATC Blue Birds: $0.90; ave. CPM for BAT Blue Bird: $1.15 
3. Ave. CPM of LATC Gilligs: $0.31; ave. CPM for BAT Gilligs: $0.29 

 
The data appears to support rather strongly that Merwin’s allegations regarding WMTS “increased 
operating costs” and “greatly decreased…life cycles” impacts on the LATC busses are in direct conflict 
with the actual data.   
 
The data clearly demonstrates that WMTS has met and in some cases exceeded its ability to maintain 
LATC busses at costs that are in line with the BAT gold standard.  More notably, initial conversations 
with Halsey King have revealed that there will be more information made available in his report that will 
only reinforce what LATC has been sharing with Merwin and the MDOT since the July 2008 episode 
grounding all four Blue Bird busses for a month---that WMTS has worked hard to maintain busses that 
are highly problematic; that LATCs four (of the paltry number of 250 or so Blue Bird models)  busses 
were poorly built; that these busses are not likely to last for the 12-year period that the FTA believes 
they should last (a case that Merwin has already made for the SLFs but other alternatives are now being 
considered); that they are not supported by the Blue Bird company in the same manner that other bus 
companies (like Gillig) support their busses; and that parts availability have and will continue to hamper 
WMTS’ ability to get these busses back on the road in a timely manner.  
 
The data clearly demonstrates that LATC and WMTS have always committed themselves to doing all that 
is possible to control costs, both on the maintenance side and the operating and administrative side of 
the ledger.  Merwin’s specific task was to do the inspections and to report out the documented findings 
of the inspection,  not to provide editorial comments that are inflammatory, unsubstantiated and 
undocumented. Both LATC and WMTS agreed with Merwin that procedural inspection/PM changes 
(combined with some of the recommendations offered by King) will only benefit LATC and WMTS in the 
future and possibly establish WMTS as one of the premier fixed maintenance facilities in and out of 
Maine. 
 
Finally, both the WMTS and the LATC remain committed to work with the MDOT and the FTA to 
establish our entire fixed transit operation as one of the best in the state.  We believe that the steps 
listed below and the results of the upcoming Halsey report will become invaluable tools as the LATC, 
WMTS and MDOT move forward to address some of the short term bus dependability issues that we 
must confront immediately.  It goes without question that the steps we take as a transit operation over 
the next 30 to 60 days will determine whether we remain a viable and dependable transit system for 
years to come.   

######################################################## 



 

15 – DRAFT LATC JOINT COUNCIL REPORT – 11.1.13 
 

 
(WMTS REPORT ISSUED TO FTA AND MDOT) 

Federal Administration/Maine Department of Transportation Compliance Request 
          Status Report Date: October 9, 2013 for period covering August 1 – September 30, 2013 

For:     Western Maine Transportation Services, Inc.  
Provided By: Mark Laskey, Maintenance Supervisor  
  Harold Allen, Transportation Supervisor 
  Alan Burnell, Sugarloaf Explorer Supervisor 
  Sandra Buchanan, General Manager 

(HIGHLIGHTED AREAS REFLECT ORIGINAL ACTION PLAN  
APPROVED BY MDOT AND FTA IN JULY 2013 – AREAS NOT HIGHLIGHTED 
REFLECT WMTS ACTION STATUS TO EACH ITEM AS OF 09/30/13) 

 
1.   All Maine State Inspections associated with vehicles under Western Maine 
Transportation Services (WMTS) control will be performed at a facility other than WMTS. This policy has 
been in effect since December 2012 and should remain in effect indefinitely. 
 
Resolution:  All vehicles requiring Maine Vehicle Safety Inspections at this time will be removed from 
service by July 31, 2013 and remain out of service until compliance with Maine Motor Vehicle Statue, 
Title 29-A and FMCSA Regulations are met. 
 
MaineDOT Oversight: WMTS will send a list of vehicles with inspection sticker expirations to Kelly Arata. 
 

WMTS Status Report (10.09.13):  Western Maine Transportation Services (WMTS) had had all 
Maine State Safety Inspections completed by outside facilities since January 2012.  As of July 
2013,vehicles are not used in service if there is an expired Maine State Safety Inspection and the 
only time a vehicle with an expired Maine State Safety Inspection is on the road is if it is being 
driven to an outside vendor for the purpose of an undergoing a Maine State Safety Inspection.  
Please refer to attachment #1 for the list of current Maine State Safety Inspections. 
 
MaineDOT Response to Status Report (10.28.13):  WMTS is in compliance and is following the 
MaineDOT required guidelines.  (See attachment 1 to WMTS’s status report). 

 
2.   FMCSA Part 396 and sub-part Seminars will be conducted for WMTS fleet operator/drivers and 
maintenance personal for two (2) years. These seminars will be conducted monthly at the WMTS 
Auburn, Maine facility. WMTS Operation and Maintenance Supervisor attendance and participation will 
be mandatory. Maine Department of Transportation/Bureau of Planning/Outreach Division 
(MaineDOT/BPOD) or their designated representatives will perform periodic oversight of FMCSR Part 
396.  
 
Resolution: The first seminar will be scheduled in August 2013. 
 
MaineDOT Oversight: MaineDOT/Merwin Vehicle Consulting will attend the first 
Driver’s meeting in August 2013 and then on a random basis. 
 

WMTS Status Report (10.09.13):  WMTS Transportation Supervisor, Harold Allen and 
Maintenance Supervisor, Mark Laskey provided two sessions of FMCSA Part 396 
seminars on Wednesday, August 21, 2013 and another two sessions on Wednesday, 
September 18, 2013.  The next two sessions are scheduled for Wednesday, October 16, 



 

16 – DRAFT LATC JOINT COUNCIL REPORT – 11.1.13 
 

2013.  Please refer to attachment #2 for lists of attendees at the August and September 
seminars. 
 
MaineDOT Response to Status Report (10.28.13):   WMTS is in compliance and is 
following MaineDOT’s required guidelines.  (See Attachment 2 to WMTS Status Report). 

 
 
3. Starting with the 2013-2014 Season, Mt. Explorer fleet vehicles will require an On-Site Operations 
Supervisor to review FMCSR, Part 396.11 documentation daily for compliance. All required scheduled 
PMs and unscheduled repairs will be performed in the Bethel, Maine area at a Maintenance Facility 
chosen by WMTS and approved by MaineDOT/BPOD or their designated representative. The chosen 
facility will perform maintenance following MaineDOT/BPOD, FMCSR, Manufacturer’s and WMTS 
requirements outlined in an agreement or contract issued by WMTS for a one (1) year period, renewable 
each consecutive year for a period of three (3) years. WMTS will submit to MaineDOT/BPOD a mid and 
end of Season Vehicle Condition Report.  
 
Resolution: Repair and Maintenance compliance to be completed prior to the start of the 2013-2014 
seasons. Report dates will be designated as determined by the season start date.  
 
MaineDOT Oversight: MaineDOT/Merwin Vehicle Consulting will approve the maintenance facility. 
 

WMTS Response (09.10.13):  Harold Allen, Transportation Supervisor and Mark Laskey, 
Maintenance Supervisor checked out three different facilities in Bethel, Maine for maintenance of 
the Mt. Explorer buses.  (They had called two other vendors that were not interested in this work) 
Of the three, only one had the capability to do the maintenance.  They provided the vendor with 
the questionnaire provided by Mike Merwin and the vendor was asked to complete the form and 
return it to WMTS by fax by the beginning of September.  Harold has tried to follow up with this 
vendor but has not had any luck making contact. 
 
WMTS Status Report (10.09.13):   WMTS Transportation Supervisor, Harold Allen and 
Maintenance Supervisor, Mark Laskey contacted and/or visited potential maintenance facilities in 
the Bethel, Newry, Woodstock area and as of September 30, 2013 have not located a facility that 
is willing to provide this maintenance.  WMTS is asking MDOT for guidance on next steps as to 
locating a maintenance facility to perform maintenance of the Mountain Explorer vehicles. 
WMTS Transportation Supervisor, Harold Allen has interviewed and offered a position to a 
person to act as an On-Site Supervisor for the Mountain Explorer.  This person is not on board 
with WMTS yet as the Mountain Explorer program does not begin until mid-December.   
 
Please refer to attachment #3 for list of maintenance facilities considered to perform maintenance 
on the Mountain Explorer buses.  NOTE: WMTS is requesting guidance from MDOT to 
complete this task. 
 
MaineDOT Response to Status Report (10.28.13):  WMTS has not yet complied with the 
requirement to schedule work in the Bethel area.  In response to WMTS’s request for assistance, 
MaineDOT is coordinating with WMTS on finding vendors within a reasonable distance.  There 
is no interest in the Bethel or South Paris area so there may be options in the Rumford and 
Mexico area.  In addition, MaineDOT is requesting that WMTS inform us when the On-Site 
Operations Supervisor for Mountain Explorer has started work and will provide contact 
information. 

 
4.   The WMTS/Sugarloaf Fleet Operations Manager will provide the Sugarloaf Maintenance 



 

17 – DRAFT LATC JOINT COUNCIL REPORT – 11.1.13 
 

Department with all required FMCSA documentation related to safe operations of the buses daily. 
 
Resolution: This requirement to be completed prior to the start of the 2013-2014 season.  
 
MaineDOT Oversight: MaineDOT/Merwin Vehicle Consulting will conduct random 
checks of applicable records. 
 

WMTS Status Report (10.09.13):  The Sugarloaf Explorer Supervisor, Alan Burnell, has just 
returned to duty as of Tuesday, October 1, 2013.  At present, the plan is to take all pre/post trip 
inspection forms to the Sugarloaf Maintenance facility each day.  Any vehicle on which there is a 
safety issue indicated on the pre/post trip inspection form will be marked out of service until a 
person from the maintenance facility has had a chance to evaluate the vehicle.  Please note: This 
plan will be expanded and formalized as needed when all Sugarloaf Explorer and Sugarloaf 
Maintenance personnel return to full duty. 
 
MaineDOT Response to Status Report (10.28.13):  MaineDOT needs clarification in regards to 
WMTS’s response relating to daily trip to Sugarloaf Maintenance Facility.  Our response is 
therefore incomplete.  MaineDOT notes that WMTS has oversight authority over the Sugarloaf 
Explorer program.  Pre- and Post Trip Inspection Reports need to be delivered to the Sugarloaf 
Maintenance facility each day so that any maintenance and safety issues can be completed before 
the bus goes back into service.  WMTS and Sugarloaf Explorer should coordinate delivery of 
these pre- and post- trip inspection reports in the most efficient manner.  MaineDOT encourages 
WMTS to complete random audits. 

 
5.   A total of thirty three percent (33%) of all vehicles receiving maintenance performed by 
WMTS on vehicles under their control will be reviewed randomly Bi-monthly for compliance to 
MaineDOT/BPOD Transit Vehicle Inspections and FMCSR compliance for a period of one (1) year by 
MDOT/BPOD or their designated representatives. 
 
Resolution: This will commence in October 2013. 
 
MaineDOT Oversight: MaineDOT/Merwin Vehicle Consulting will conduct bi-monthly 
inspections. 

 
WMTS Status Report (10.09.13):  Bi-monthly inspections are to begin in October 2013. 

 
MaineDOT Response to Status Report (10.28.13):  MaineDOT will coordinate with WMTS on 
this issue prior to the end of October 
. 

6.   On-Time Preventive Maintenance Reviews will be conducted every three (3) months by 
MaineDOT/BPOD or their designated representatives for compliance to FTA 80% On- Time 
requirements. This will include all fleets under WMTS control for a period of one 
(1) year. 
 
Resolution: This will commence in November 2013. 
 
MaineDOT Oversight: MaineDOT/Merwin Vehicle Consulting will conduct on-time 
PMs every three months. 

 
WMTS Status Report (10.09.13):   On-time review is to begin in November 2013. 



 

18 – DRAFT LATC JOINT COUNCIL REPORT – 11.1.13 
 

 
MaineDOT Response to Status Report (10.28.13):  MaineDOT will coordinate with WMTS on 
this issue prior to the end of October. 
 

7.   WMTS Maintenance Facility will perform only Preventive Maintenance procedures. 
These procedures will only be performed by authorized WMTS Maintenance facility employees. Any 
major repair related to Public Transportation vehicles under WMTS 
control will be performed by a facility other than WMTS. Major repairs will be 
considered engines, transmission, brakes, suspension, steering and any safety sensitive repairs. This 
procedure will remain in effect until WMTS maintenance employees are 
certified in all aspect of repair. This will not include Maine Commercial Vehicle Safety 
Inspections addressed above. 
 
Resolution: This will commence on August 1, 2013. Employee certifications will be verified, documented 
and on file prior to work being performed at the WMTS maintenance facility by Agency employees. 
 
MaineDOT Oversight: MaineDOT/Merwin Vehicle Consulting will review applicable 
documentation. 

 
WMTS Status Report (10.09.13):  MDOT’s Maintenance Consultant, Mike Merwin, to perform 
maintenance and inspection of public transportation vehicles, has verbally approved the following 
members of the WMTS Maintenance staff: Mark Laskey, Maintenance Supervisor, Paul Springer, 
Master Technician, Gregory Gallant, Technician, Shawn Doyle, Mechanic Helper.  WMTS 
retains all training and certification records for all employees and provided MDOT with copies of 
all certifications on July 30, 2013. 
 
MaineDOT Response to Status Report (10.28.13):  WMTS is in compliance with certification of 
its mechanics to perform the major repairs cited above.  MaineDOT has submitted information in 
regards to courses for their mechanics at Central Maine Community College. 

 
8.   WMTS will immediately comply with all FTA, MaineDOT/BPOD and FMCSR, Record 
Retention requirements. These will include all Vehicle Operation & Maintenance files, forms and 
documentation. MaineDOT/BPOD or their designated representative will 
review these records for compliance. All records will be randomly reviewed for 
compliance for a period of two (2) years by MAINEDOT/BPOD or their designated representatives. 
 
Resolution:  Compliance will commence on July 31, 2013. Compliance requirement updates will be 
reviewed prior to August 6, 2013. Random compliance reviews will be performed for a period of two (2) 
years. 
 
MaineDOT Oversight: MaineDOT/Merwin Vehicle Consulting will review 
certifications. 

 
WMTS Status Report (10.09.13):  WMTS is working on updating all PM schedules for all 
vehicles, have implemented more strict record retention criteria and has taken advantage of the 
services of Halsey King, an independent vehicle maintenance consultant to assist the WMTS 
maintenance staff with compliance.  WMTS has created separate folders within the vehicle files 
for emergency exit and lift/ramp inspections and PM’s.   



 

19 – DRAFT LATC JOINT COUNCIL REPORT – 11.1.13 
 

NOTE:  WMTS would appreciate a list of the criteria that was determined to be deficient so 
that we can be sure not to overlook any areas. 
 
MaineDOT Response to Status Report (10.28.13):  MaineDOT will review the requirements with 
WMTS before the end of October 2013 and our response is therefore inconclusive.  In response to 
WMTS’s request for criteria, MaineDOT cites Merwin Vehicle Consulting’s report dated June 
18, 2013 that WMTS is required to respond to the status in subsequent status reports, as follows: 
 
Below are the Federal, State of Maine and Agency Regulations, Requirements, Policies and 
Procedures found non-compliant associated with LATC, WMTS, and Mt. Explorer fleets during 
this review. 
 
Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations, Part 396:  

• Part 396 Inspection, Repair, Maintenance and Record retention 
• Part 396.1 Scope 
• 396.3 General, Required records and Record Retention 
• 396.7 Unsafe operations forbidden. General 
• 396.11 Driver vehicle inspection report (s) (2) Report content, (3) Corrective action 
• 396.13 Driver inspection a, b, and c (DOT Interpretations -396.13, Question1:  

Guidance:)  
• 396.17 Periodic inspection (g) (h) (Maine Commercial Vehicle Safety Inspection) 
• 396.19 Inspector qualifications (DOT Interpretations -396.19, Question1:  Guidance :) 
• 396.25 Qualifications of brake inspectors,( a) (b)  (c) 

 
Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations, Part 393:  

• 393.55 Antilock brake systems (d) 
• 393.82 Speedometer (DOT Interpretations -393.82, Question1:  Guidance :) 

 
Maine Motor Vehicle Statues,   Title 29-A 

• 1751. Subchapter1, Inspection, 4. Implementation, B 
• 1768. Unlawful acts, 5. Operation of a defective vehicle 
• 1770. Penalties 

 
Federal Transit Administration Grant Management Guidelines 
Maine Department of Transportation/Bureau of Transportation Systems Planning,  

• Cost Sharing Agreement associated with WMTS, LATC Fleets 
• Western Maine Transportation Service, Comprehensive Asset Management Plan, Agency 

Operation and Maintenance Policies and Procedure 
 
 
9.   WMTS will redesign and update the current Agency, Comprehensive Asset Management 
Plan (CAMP) and all Ron Turley Associates (RTA) Maintenance Program documents, polices, procedures 
and forms. These changes reflect required Manufacturers, Federal, State and ADA maintenance policies, 
procedures and requirements related to all vehicles under the Agency control. MaineDOT/BPOD or their 
designated representatives will review these records for compliance. 
 
Resolution:  Updated CAMP and related records will be reviewed for compliance by 
MDOT/BTSP prior to August 8, 2013. 
 
MaineDOT Oversight: WMTS will send their updated comprehensive asset management plan to Kelly 
Arata/MaineDOT. MaineDOT/Merwin Vehicle Consulting 



 

20 – DRAFT LATC JOINT COUNCIL REPORT – 11.1.13 
 

will review applicable records. 
 
WMTS Response (10.09.13):  WMTS is currently working on updating all PM schedules for all 
makes, models and years of equipment.  Because WMTS has a an extremely mixed fleet this has 
been time consuming but as of today, October 9, 2013 all four, five, and seven year buses are 
98% completed. Loren Niemi , MDOT has been working closely with Mark Laskey, WMTS 
Maintenance Supervisor to accomplish this and WMTS appreciates his patience in this “PM 
Overhaul”.  WMTS has started updating the twelve-year vehicles, and then the service vehicles 
will be completed.  Completed template PM work orders are being forwarded in a separate 
attachment. Once all PM’s are updated, binders will be created for each maintenance person, the 
shop and MDOT with all the information. 
 
NOTE: WMTS is requesting guidance from MDOT to completion of this task.   
 
MaineDOT Response to Status Report (10.28.13):  In response to WMTS’s request, MaineDOT 
will review the requirements before the end of October 2013 and our response is therefore 
inconclusive. 

 
10. WMTS will provide MaineDOT/BPOD updated reports monthly for a period of one (1) 
year related to all areas listed above. MaineDOT or their designated representatives will review those 
updates and prepare status reports related to compliance. These reports may 
be shared with the FTA and FMCSA. 
 
Resolution: WMTS will file bi-monthly reports to MaineDOT/Merwin Vehicle Consulting within 10 days 
after the end of the month. For example, actions taken in August and September 2013 will be filed 
within 10 days after the end of September. MaineDOT/Merwin Vehicle Consulting will file Status reports 
within fifteen days of receiving the bi-monthly report from WMTS. All reports will be shared with the 
FTA and FMCSA upon request. 
 
MaineDOT Oversight: MaineDOT/Merwin Vehicle Consulting will review the bi- 
monthly reports and prepare a status report. 

WMTS Status Report (10.09.13):  This bi-monthly report covers the period from August 1, 2013 
through September 30, 2013 and serves as the first WMTS bi-monthly report. 
   

List of Separate Attachments by item number 
 

1. List of WMTS Vehicle Inspections expiration dates and where the vehicles were 
inspected.  Please note Sugarloaf Explorer buses were on lay up until October 1, 2013. 
 

2. Documentation of FMCSR part 396 seminars for August and September 2013. 
 

3. List of Maintenance Facilities in the Bethel/Newry/Woodstock area that were contacted 
and the results. 

   9. Copy of PM Templates completed to date. 
 

  Other WMTS Accomplishments during this time 
• Paul Springer WMTS Master Technician has received ASE Master Technician 

Certification in Transit Bus Maintenance 



 

21 – DRAFT LATC JOINT COUNCIL REPORT – 11.1.13 
 

• WMTS provided training for Maintenance staff, Operators, and some MDOT staff on bus 
maintenance and inspection procedures. 

• WMTS has configured the garage so one bay is a bus inspection bay with extra lighting, 
convex mirrors, a white floor and other enhancements. 

• WMTS has invested in tools and equipment to provide for better inspections of WMTS 
owned and operated fleets, including a brakeometer, locking cabinet and inspection table. 

• WMTS sent one technician to air brake training put on by Maine Motor Transport. 
• All WMTS staff attended a seminar on lift maintenance. 
 
MaineDOT Response to Status Report (10.28.13):  WMTS filed its status report for August-
September 2013 on October 9, 2013 that was within 10 days after the end of September 2013. 

 

 
AGENDA ITEM 4. Proposal to Re-Purpose 

Capital Reserve Funding 
 
The following is a working draft proposal to address current bus inventory availability issues: 
 
1. Blue Bird busses:  take action to lease one bus to support the four-bus inventory of Blue Birds.  

Longer term----look at the possibility of rehabbing a bus which may involve Maine Military 
Authority in Limestone (this is subject to RFP requirement).  We have not received FTA 
confirmation on the 80/20 funding eligibility of leasing to date. 
 

2. SLF busses:  These busses will reach the end of their FTA useful life in 2014.  These busses are 
out-of-service until further notice due to corrosion on the frame rails. MDOT and LATC are 
working to eliminate the FTA time restrictions and to look at possibly having the bus evaluated 
for possible overhaul or scraping.  LATC will need to immediately lease at least two busses to 
replace them to get our inventory back up to 10 busses.  We cover 7 routes but with PM and 
breakdowns, 10 is the minimum number we need if we are to have any chance to cover all 
routes on a regular basis. 
 

3. Gillig busses:  They have been very reliable and are typically placed out of service only when 
they require PM or a state inspection.  Halsey and a 2007 FTA fixed transit report highly 
recommend that we pursue the mid-life overhaul of the busses when they occur in 2017. This 
kind of work will require that the busses be done on a staggered basis which may require 
temporary leasing to fill inventory holes. 
 

4. Ed Dorado bus:  This bus will reach its useful life in 2015. The bus may be assessed for possible 
rehaul. 
 

5. Longer term purchasing:  It is likely that we would immediately begin the process of purchasing 
some possible combination of either used heavy duty transit busses and/or smaller cutaway 
busses dependent on use.  Issues of how federal funding work for used busses that are beyond 
their useful life and whether federal funding would be available for rehabbing busses that are in 
that category.  The RFP question would also need to be addressed. 



City Council 

Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

 

  Council Meeting Date: November 4, 2013   

 

   

 

Subject: Executive Session  

 

Information: Discussion on the MSEA Labor Negotiations, pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(D)  

 

 
Executive Session:  On occasion, the City Council discusses matters which are required or allowed by State law to be considered 

in executive session.  Executive sessions are not open to the public.  The matters that are discussed in executive session are 

required to be kept confidential until they become a matter of public discussion.  In order to go into executive session, a Councilor 

must make a motion in public.  The motion must be recorded, and 3/5 of the members of the Council must vote to go into 

executive session.  An executive session is not required to be scheduled in advance as an agenda item, although when it is known 

at the time that the agenda is finalized, it will be listed on the agenda. The only topics which may be discussed in executive 

session are those that fall within one of the categories set forth in Title 1 M.R.S.A. Section 405(6).  Those applicable to municipal 

government are: 

A. Discussion of personnel issues 

B. Discussion or consideration by a school board of suspension of expulsion 

C. Discussion or consideration of the condition, acquisition or the use of real or personal property permanently attached to real 

property or interests therein or disposition of publicly held property or economic development only if premature disclosures 

of the information would prejudice the competitive or bargaining position of the body or agency   

D. Labor contracts 

E. Contemplated litigation 

F. Discussions of information contained in records made, maintained or received by a body or agency when access by the 

general public to those records is prohibited by statute; 

G. Discussion or approval of the content of examinations administered by a body or agency for licensing, permitting or 

employment purposes; consultation between a body or agency and any entity that provides examination services to that body 

or agency regarding the content of an examination; and review of examinations with the person examined; and 

H. Consultations between municipal officers and a code enforcement officer representing the municipality pursuant to Title 30-

A, section 4452, subsection 1, paragraph in the prosecution of an enforcement matter pending in District Court when the 

consultation relates to that pending enforcement matter.  

 

 

    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



City Council 

Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

 

  Council Meeting Date: November 4, 2013   

 

   

 

Subject: Executive Session  

 

Information: Discussion Labor Negotiations (update on Fire, MAP Patrol and MAP Command), pursuant to 1 

M.R.S.A. §405(6)(D).  

 

 
Executive Session:  On occasion, the City Council discusses matters which are required or allowed by State law to be considered 

in executive session.  Executive sessions are not open to the public.  The matters that are discussed in executive session are 

required to be kept confidential until they become a matter of public discussion.  In order to go into executive session, a Councilor 

must make a motion in public.  The motion must be recorded, and 3/5 of the members of the Council must vote to go into 

executive session.  An executive session is not required to be scheduled in advance as an agenda item, although when it is known 

at the time that the agenda is finalized, it will be listed on the agenda. The only topics which may be discussed in executive 

session are those that fall within one of the categories set forth in Title 1 M.R.S.A. Section 405(6).  Those applicable to municipal 

government are: 

A. Discussion of personnel issues 

B. Discussion or consideration by a school board of suspension of expulsion 

C. Discussion or consideration of the condition, acquisition or the use of real or personal property permanently attached to real 

property or interests therein or disposition of publicly held property or economic development only if premature disclosures 

of the information would prejudice the competitive or bargaining position of the body or agency   

D. Labor contracts 

E. Contemplated litigation 

F. Discussions of information contained in records made, maintained or received by a body or agency when access by the 

general public to those records is prohibited by statute; 

G. Discussion or approval of the content of examinations administered by a body or agency for licensing, permitting or 

employment purposes; consultation between a body or agency and any entity that provides examination services to that body 

or agency regarding the content of an examination; and review of examinations with the person examined; and 

H. Consultations between municipal officers and a code enforcement officer representing the municipality pursuant to Title 30-

A, section 4452, subsection 1, paragraph in the prosecution of an enforcement matter pending in District Court when the 

consultation relates to that pending enforcement matter.  

 

 

    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



City Council 

Workshop Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Tree Harvesting Discussion 

 

Information: Based on the attached agenda request form City staff recommends that a review of tree harvesting 

operations in the City be reviewed by the Public Services Department, City Planner and Code Enforcement 

Officer. In addition this review should integrate the Council’s direction to implement a Park’s Commission.  It 

is clear that a policy review of this issue would fall to a Parks Commission if currently in place.   

In additon the City will review the proper allocation of revenues generated from future tree harvesting activities 

and permitting function of such activities. Until this review is completed staff recommends a moratorium of 180 

days on all tree harvesting activities within the City. The next tree harvest is being coordinated by the Auburn 

School Department and is scheduled for the summer of 2014. 

 

Financial: none 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting:  

 

Direct the City Manager to coordinate staff to work with all interested parties to review tree harvesting 

operations in the City. This review would consider the proper allocation of revenues generated from future tree 

harvesting activities, permitting function of such activities and integrate the Public Services Department with a 

Parks Commission on this process.  

 

Until this review is completed The City Council hereby imposes a moratorium of 180 days on all tree harvesting 

activities within the City. 

 

Previous Meetings and History: None 

 

 

Attachments: Workshop Agenda Item Request Form submitted by Councilor Gerry 

Council Meeting Date:  November 4, 2013 Item  F 

Author:   Denis D’Auteuil 







City Council 

Workshop Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Board and Committee appointment process 

 

Information: The Board and Committee appointment process was agreed to return after one year for Council 

input and staff recommendations.  Staff has the following recommendations: 

1. The Board and Committee Appointment Process should be amended so that all applications 

received be sent to the entire Council for review. The Council will be given two weeks to 

respond to the Appointment Committee with any comments or recommendations they may have.  

(Immediately implementable.) 

2. A brief 1 page document be drafted of all committees the Council appoints to for membership.  

This memo will describe the function of that committee and will also lay out a list of skills the 

members should possess. (It is recommended this be implemented after the January 

appointments because it will take 90 days to assemble these documents.) 

3. Another issue that was considered is interviews.  Although benefits exist the staff feels the 

policies direction to leave it at the discretion of the Appointment Committee is best.  Please 

provide input. 

 

 

Financial: N/A 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Discussion 

 

Previous Meetings and History: December 3, 2012 Council adopted the current Committee Appointment 

Process. 

 

Attachments:  

 

 

 

Council Workshop Date:  November 4, 2013 Item  G 

Author:   Sue Clements-Dallaire 



1 | P a g e  
 

CITY OF AUBURN 

BOARD AND COMMITTEE APPOINTMENT PROCESS 

 

The Mayor shall appoint a three member committee hereinafter called the “Appointment 

Committee”.  The Appointment Committee shall review all applications to boards or committees 

assigned per attachment “Committees of the City of Auburn”; the Committees may interview 

applicants, including incumbents, for vacancies on all City boards, commissions and committees.  

 

The Appointment Committee may review term expirations and propose appointments as 

frequently as necessary.  The Clerk shall notify the various boards, commissions, and 

committees, the Mayor, the City Manager and the City Council members of the upcoming 

expirations and any current vacancies periodically, but not less than once per year.  

 

Incumbents will receive a letter from the Clerk notifying them of the expiration of their term 

and letting them know they need to reapply.  Additionally the Clerk shall post on the City 

website a notice of vacancy for at least 30 days.  However, if a term becomes vacant due to a 

resignation, death, residency, disqualification, or other sudden vacancy, the committee may 

shorten or eliminate the 30 day posting.  The Clerk will also notify all alternate members so that 

they may apply for full membership, if interested. 

 

A notice shall be placed on the City’s website. The Clerk may create an email group of 

neighborhood group contacts, Chamber, contacts and other interested individuals to which the 

advertisement may be sent.  

 

Applications shall only be accepted during the posted period and must be postmarked no later 

than the deadline. Emails are acceptable and must be time stamped in advance of the deadline.  

Incumbents must reapply each time. All applicants are required to send a completed application 

form and it is recommended that they also send a resume and a cover letter to apply.   

 

The Clerk shall notify the staff person to the board, commission, or committee in question, so 

that he/she can also have a conversation with any incumbents to let them know their term is 

expiring. 

 

All boards, commissions, and committees will be provided with a brief description of that 

board’s duties and the qualifications for appointment will be in the header, notebooks containing 

the ordinances/by-laws pertaining to each board, commission, or committee, and a list of the 

incumbents on all boards.   

 

The Appointment Committee may vote by hand or by consensus on the nominee for each 

vacancy.  If the Appointment Committee does not agree on a nominee, a vacancy may be re-

advertised or presented to the City Council.   

 

The day after the nominations are completed, the Clerk shall notify the employees who staff 

the boards, commission, or committees, to let them know who is being nominated or that a 

position is being re-advertised.  Also on that day, letters shall be sent to those applicants who are 



2 | P a g e  
 

being nominated and to those who are not. Nominees shall be told when their appointment is 

going to the full Council agenda as a Consent Calendar item, and asked to attend the meeting.   

 

Except for legal retention purposes, resumes will not be kept for future vacancies, once 

interviews have been held. The process shall start fresh each time, ensuring that resumes are 

current and received from applicants qualified to fill the positions. 

 

The Clerk shall prepare the order for the Council meeting, noting the names, board to which 

members are being appointed and the term expiration date. At the meeting, the Mayor shall ask 

the new board members to stand and introduce themselves, once the order has passed.  

 

The next day, after the Council appointments are passed, the Clerk shall send a letter to each 

new member, congratulating them, advising them of the expiration date of their term, telling 

them who the staff person is and letting them know they must be sworn in before their first 

meeting.  A copy of this letter shall be sent to the staff person for that committee along with the 

new member’s resume.  

 

The website shall provide a complete list of all the board and committee members currently 

serving, date of end of term, and date of original appointment. 

 

All appointments in this policy are those subject to the approval of the City Council.  

Appointments of the Mayor as conferred in Charter are subject to this process or processes. 

 

Alternate Member 

 

An alternate member shall participate in all meetings with the same rights as a full 

member, except they shall not have the right to vote.  The right to vote shall only be conferred by 

a vote of full members present to fill an absence, temporarily vacated seat, or to replace a 

member who has removed themselves due a conflict of interest.  Alternate members shall be 

appointed to voting rights on a rotating basis, so as to preserve fairness.  The purpose of alternate 

members is to sustain a full voting board and to educate new interested persons before becoming 

a full member.  It is the intent but not mandate of the Council to promote Alternate Members to 

full membership before accepting new members to a board or committee. 

 

 

Reports and Vacancies 

 

A vacancy on any appointive board, commission, or committee of the city shall exist upon the 

occurrence of any of the following events: 

 

(a) Death of a member. 

 

(b) Resignation of a member. 

 



3 | P a g e  
 

(c) Moving by a member of the member’s place of residence from the City of Auburn. When 

a member moves from the City of Auburn, the vacancy shall occur immediately and the 

member shall not serve at any further meetings.  

 

 

(d) Failure of a member to attend more than three (3) consecutive meetings or absence from 

five (5) meetings during the preceding twelve-month period. 

 

Reporting actions and vacancies. 

 

The chairman of each board or commission of the city shall certify or cause the secretary 

of the board or commission to certify to the city council each month the actions of said board or 

commission, together with the record of absences of members. In such report, the chairman or 

secretary of each such board or commission shall notify the city council of any vacancy 

occurring on such board or commission. In the event that a vacancy occurs, the board or 

commission may, by majority vote of its membership, exclusive of the member affected, 

recommend to the city council that the attendance provision be waived for cause, in which case 

no vacancy shall exist until the city council disapproves the recommendation. 

 

Removal from Office 

 

 An official or officials who are alleged to have caused grounds for removal from office 

are subject to the “Policy for Removal of Officials Appointed to Boards, Commissions and 

Committees” approved as part of this policy. 
 

  



4 | P a g e  
 

POLICY FOR REMOVAL OF OFFICIALS APPOINTED TO BOARDS, 

COMMISSIONS AND COMMITTEES 

 

1. Purpose.  The purpose of this policy is to have in place a process for the removal of officials 

appointed to boards, commissions and committees 

 

2. Authority.  The City Council exercises its authority to remove officials under Title 30-A, 

section 2601 which allows the removal for cause after notice and hearing. 

 

3. Cause.  All grounds constituting cause cannot be detailed.  However, the following are 

examples of conduct which may result in removal for cause: 

 

A. More than three consecutive absences or five absences within a calendar year, 

unexcused by the Board, Commission or Committee by majority vote.  This 

subsection may not be used unless the records of the Board, Commission or 

Committee reflect the facts constituting grounds.  Nothing in this subsection shall 

be interpreted to prevent an official from requesting a leave of absence from the 

Council for unusual circumstances.  Unusual circumstances could include, but not 

be limited to, illness of the official or an immediate family member; temporary 

relocation for employment, military duty or educational reasons; and increased 

temporary child care responsibilities.  In making the decision whether or not to 

grant a leave of absence, the Council shall balance the needs of the City and the 

Board, Commission or Committee with the needs of the official. 

 

B. Inappropriate public conduct or conduct to other officials related to the office 

held.  Examples include but are not limited to verbal abuse to other officials or 

members of the public, or obstruction of meetings of the Board, Commission or 

Committee. 

 

C. Impairment by alcoholic beverages or drugs at Board, Commission or Committee 

functions. 

 

D. Indictment or conviction (1) for a Class C or higher Crime, or (2) for a Class D or 

lower crime or a civil violation, directly or indirectly affecting the office held.  

Examples of Class D or lower crimes or civil violations affecting the office held 

would be shoplifting a compact disk where the office involved the handling of 

money; or violations of a protected resource where the Board, Commission or 

Committee deals with that resource.  These provisions apply even when the 

conduct leading to the indictment or conviction has taken place outside the City of 

Auburn or State of Maine. 

 

E. Other reasons related to the good of the Committee, the City or the office held. 

 

1. Removal procedure. 

 



5 | P a g e  
 

A. Separation of roles.  While a City Councilor sitting in a removal 

proceeding may be aware of the facts and circumstances leading to 

the proceeding, the City Council recognizes that no individual 

Councilor may prejudge the proceedings.  Therefore, in a proceeding 

to remove an appointed official, the facts and circumstances shall be 

investigated by the City Manager or the City Manager’s designee 

(hereinafter “the City Manager”), rather than an individual 

Councilor. Should allegations be brought to an individual Councilor, 

which the individual Councilor believes may be cause for removal, 

the individual Councilor shall turn the facts and circumstances over 

to the City Manager, and refer further inquiries to the City Manager.  

Inquiries to other Councilors shall be turned over to the City 

Manager.  No Councilor shall participate in any removal hearing if 

that Councilor has an interest, a conflict, or is disqualified, under the 

Rules of Order and Procedure for Auburn City Council. 

 

B. Investigation. The City Manager shall investigate the allegations as 

soon as reasonably possible.  If the City Manager determines the 

allegations create probable grounds for removal, the City Manager 

shall notify the official in writing that the City Manager is 

contemplating a recommendation to the City Council that the official 

be removed, outlining the City Manager’s reasons.  The City 

Manager shall provide the official a reasonable amount of time to 

provide the official’s position on the allegations, before the City 

Manager finalizes the recommendation to the City Council. 

 

C. Hearing.  If the City Manager recommends removal, the City 

Council shall schedule a hearing on the official’s removal.  The 

hearing shall be scheduled at a time which will allow the City 

Manager and the official an adequate opportunity to prepare their 

presentations to the City Council.  At the hearing, the City Manager 

shall present the City’s case with the official’s case following.  The 

presentations may include witnesses and exhibits, including 

documents.  The City Manager and the officials shall provide each 

other a list of witnesses and exhibits at least seven days before the 

hearing date unless another time is agreed upon.  Each party shall be 

allowed to ask questions of the other party’s witnesses.  Evidence 

will be admissible if it is evidence which would be relied upon by 

persons in the conduct of serious affairs.  This means, for example, 

that hearsay evidence will not be excluded, and that the procedure 

will be conducted according to the principles of fair play rather than 

of strict rules of evidence. 

 

D. Confidentiality.  The hearing shall be conducted in open session 

unless the Council determines public discussion could reasonably be 

expected to cause damage to the official’s reputation or the official’s 



6 | P a g e  
 

right to privacy would be violated.  If the Council makes that 

determination, all related materials will be confidential until a final, 

non-appealable decision. Regardless of the Council’s decision on 

public discussion, the official may request in writing that the hearing 

be conducted in open session, and that all related materials be public. 

 

Even if the hearing is conducted in open session, it is not a public 

hearing.  Stated differently, the only persons presenting testimony or 

evidence will be those persons selected by the City Manager or official.  

The general public will not be invited to testify at the hearing. 

 

E. Decision.  After the City Council hears the evidence, it shall issue a 

written decision of those present and voting.  The written decision 

shall state the facts and conclusions upon which the City Council 

relies in making its decision.  If the written decision removes the 

official from office, the written decision shall become public as soon 

as it is a final, non-appealable, decision.  The vote on the written 

decision shall be by majority vote. 

 

5. Resignation. If the official elects to resign at any stage of this process, the process shall 

terminate, and any pending investigation or hearing under this process 

shall cease. 

  



7 | P a g e  
 

COMMITTEES & BOARDS OF THE CITY OF AUBURN 

 

Board Name 

911 

ABDC 

Airport 

ATRC 

Audit and Procurement 

Board of Assessment Review 

Cable TV Advisory  

CDBG Community Advisory  

CDBG Loan  

Discharge  

Energy  

Ethics Advisory 

Forestry 

Auburn Housing 

Investment Advisory 

LA Public Health 

LAEGC 

LATC  

LAWPC 

Library 

MMWAC 

Neighborhood Stabilization 

New Auburn Master Plan Implementation 

Planning Board 

Railroad 

Recreation Advisory 

Recycling  

School 

Sewerage District 

USM 

Water District 

Zoning Board of Appeals 

 



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Appointment of Wardens  

 

Information: The City Clerk nominates Wardens to be appointed by the City Council. One Warden is to be 

appointed for each polling place.  

 

Stella Doyon  Ward Clerk Ward 1    Washburn School 

Lynn Bulmer  Warden  Ward 3    Auburn Hall 

Roland Jordan  Ward Clerk Ward 5    Sherwood Heights School 

 
 

Financial: N/A 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Recommend passage 

 

Previous Meetings and History: N/A 

 

Attachments: Order 97-11042013* 

 

 

 

Council Meeting Date:  November 4, 2013 Order  97-11042013* 

Author:   Sue Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 97-11042013 

 
ORDERED, that the City Council hereby appoints the following individuals as Wardens and Ward Clerks for 

the November 5, 2013 Election: 

 

Stella Doyon  Ward Clerk Ward 1    Washburn School 

Lynn Bulmer  Warden  Ward 3    Auburn Hall 

Roland Jordan  Ward Clerk Ward 5    Sherwood Heights School 

 

 

 
 



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject:  Confirm Chief Crowell’s appointment of Katherine D. Avery, Joseph M. Correia and Joseph T. 

Miville as Constables with a firearm for the Auburn Police Department. 
 

Information: The Auburn Police Department requests City Council appointment of Katherine D. Avery, Joseph 

M. Correia and Joseph T. Miville as Constables with a firearm for the City of Auburn. 

 

Financial: n/a 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Motion to confirm Chief Crowell’s appointment of Katherine D. Avery, 

Joseph M. Correia and Joseph T. Miville as Constables with a firearm for the City of Auburn. 

 

Previous Meetings and History: n/a 

 

Attachments:  

 Memo from Chief  

 Order 98-11042013 

Council Meeting Date:  November 4, 2013 Order  98-11042013* 

Author:   Phillip L. Crowell, Jr., Chief of Police 



Phillip L. Crowell 
Chief  of  Police 
 
Jason D. Moen 
Deputy Chief 
 
Rita P. Beaudry 
Executive Assistant 

 

Memorandum 
 

To: Honorable Mayor Jonathan Labonte and Members of the City Council 

From: Phillip L. Crowell, Jr., Chief of Police 

Date: October 28, 2013 

Re: CONSTABLES 

 

We request that the following named persons be named Constables for the Auburn Police 
Department: 
 
 
Katherine D. Avery  with Firearm New Hire Police Officer 
 
Joseph M. Correia  with Firearm New Hire Police Officer 
 
Joseph T. Miville  with Firearm New Hire Police Officer 

 

 
 

Auburn Police Department 
 

6 0  CO U R T  S T R E E T  •  A U B U R N ,  M A I N E  •  0 4 2 1 0  
P H O N E :  2 0 7 . 3 3 3 . 6 6 5 0  •  W WW . A U B U R N P D . C O M  

A D M I N I S T R A T I O N  F A X :  2 0 7 . 3 3 3 . 3 8 5 5 •  P A T R O L / R E CO R D S  F A X :  2 0 7 . 3 3 3 . 3 8 5 6  



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan P. LaBonté, Mayor 

 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 98-11042013 

 

 
ORDERED, that Katherine D. Avery, Joseph M. Correia and Joseph T. Miville be named a Constable with a 

firearm for the Auburn Police Department.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
           









Auburn Sewerage District Report for Meeting Monday 2013.11.04 

Prepared:   Wednesday 2013.10.30  

TO:  Residents of Auburn and the Auburn City Council 

FROM:  Tizz E. H. Crowley- Auburn City Council Ward 1 

  Mayor LaBonte’s representative to ASD 

 
The Auburn Sewerage District Trustees met on Tuesday, October 15, 
2013 at the District office.  Staff supported Auburn-Lewiston United in 
Pink activities promoting Breast Cancer Awareness month by preparing 
all meeting materials on pink paper with Pink Ribbon pencils.  All District vehicles displayed Breast Cancer 
Awareness magnets. 
 
Since I was ill and did not report on the September 17th meeting of the Sewerage Trustees I’d like to highlight 
some of the meeting’s key points: 

- Sid Hazelton presented much of the management materials as Superintendent Storer was out of state on 
water district business. 

- A large portion of the LAWPC costs were paid in September.   
- The total costs for the Littlefield Bridge project is expected in October.  This project was completed on 

time and on budget. 
- The Sewerage District is forecasting a 10% rate increase in 2014. 
- The new vacuum truck has been busy as the District works the preventive maintenance schedule to clear 

all sewer lines in a year.  Currently they are targeting chronic areas. 
- Flushables continue to be a problem and cost ratepayers money in repairs and damage from backups.  

More education messages are expected. 
- Trustees asked staff to follow up with the City of Auburn regarding maintenance of catch basins, 

especially those owned by the City.  We need to work as partners on the storm water separation.  
- The Trustees were updated on the progress of the odor reduction trial procedure for Cascades Auburn 

Fiber.  Any concerns should be directed to Superintendent John Storer.  
 
The vacuum truck was used in the Stetson Mills area in September and now has moved top Perryville, Chestnut 
and Winter streets region.   New Auburn will be next for this work.  
 
Speaking of New Auburn, staff followed up on a concern about a loose and noisy manhole at the New Auburn 
intersection in front of Rolly’s Diner.  This is a communication manhole and not water or sewer; so staff couldn’t 
resolve the issue.  
 
Project update for October report included the sewer manhole work on South Main Street.  The Water crews are 
also helping with CSO activities. 
 
New Business discussion focused on preparing for the 2014 budget expected to be presented in November.  CIP 
plans likely to include the remaining 60% of the City for smoking testing in I/I study.  The Health Insurance Trust is 
expected to raise costs by 10%.  Mr. Storer apologized for the delay in discussing changes in health insurance 
premium benefits.  He expressed concern that the District may have challenges keeping excellent employees if the 
premium payment benefit for more than individual employees was reduced. Some trustees expressed concern 
over the high costs and the significantly inequitable situation that now exists.  No one could identify local, non-
municipal employers paying as much of the family coverage premium as is the District. 
 
The Auburn Sewerage District once again received the State’s SHAPE award.  Sewer Foreman Andy Farris lead the 
team in the safety work done to win.  The Safety and Health Award for Public Employers (SHAPE) recognizes 



public sector employers who maintain an exemplary safety and health management system. Acceptance into 
SHAPE by the Maine Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Standards is an achievement that distinguishes the 
Auburn Water and Sewerage Districts as a model for workplace safety and health. Upon receiving SHAPE 
recognition, the worksite is exempt from programmed inspections for two years.  Congratulations to the crews. 
 
The financial forecast for year-end is expected to be $44,000 favorable to the budget. Auburn’s anticipated 
surplus at LAWPCA will be about $35,000.   
  
September’s sewer tip of the month actually comes from information provided to participants at the Septic Social 
hosted by the Auburn Water District and the Lake Auburn Watershed Protection Commission.  The kind of TP 
(toilet paper) used in a home does make a difference.  Cheaper is better in this example.  Less expensive dissolves 
more quickly and would reduce the amount you pump from your septic tank.  Don’t get me started on 
Flushables… suffice to say THEY ARE NOT!! 
 
October can be scary and it’s not just because of Halloween. Hazardous waste should never be put down the 
household drain, and this includes the garbage disposal. These products include motor oil, paint and other 
household cleaners. These chemicals can find their way into our water supply and end up causing serious damage 
to your household drainage system. You will need to dispose of these by contacting your local waste management 
service asking about the closest facility capable of processing such waste. 
 
Check out the Auburn Water-Auburn Sewerage-Lake Auburn Watershed Protection Commission website.  Bet you 

didn’t know this…. 

“The Auburn Sewerage District is a quasi-municipal utility providing sewer collection services to over 5,300 
residential, commercial, and industrial customers located within the City of Auburn. We do not provide any 
treatment of the sanitary waste. All waste is conveyed to the Lewiston-Auburn Water Pollution Control Authority 
(LAWPCA) located on the banks of the Androscoggin River in Lewiston. LAWPCA is the licensed authority that 
treats all public sanitary waste generated in Lewiston and Auburn. 

To collect, handle and transport the sewerage waste generated within the City of Auburn, the Sewer District 
operates and maintains 23 wastewater pump stations, over 2,000 manholes, and 135 miles of pipe ranging from 
8ï¿½ to 54ï¿½ in diameter. All collected waste is ultimately transported to the LAWPCA facility by gravity flow 
through a series of inverted siphon pipes located beneath the Androscoggin River. 

In the built-up areas of the City, local sewer collection mains convey the wastewater to several large diameter 
gravity interceptors that ultimately connect to the siphon pipes. Pump stations are also scattered about the City in 
localized low-lying areas, such as along Taylor Pond and out by the airport, to collect wastewater and pump it 
back to the gravity collection system. 

The Auburn Sewerage District was formally organized by a Charter granted by the Maine Legislature in 1919. The 
fiscal and operational decisions of the District are made by a seven-member Board of Trustees that is appointed 
by the Mayor of the City of Auburn and the Auburn City Council. The Trustee meetings are open to the public and 
are tentatively scheduled to take place at 4:00 PM every third Tuesday of the month at the District office building 
at 268 Court Street. “ 

As always, thank you Mayor LaBonte for the opportunity to serve in your place at the Auburn Sewerage District. 
 



Auburn Water District Report for Meeting Monday 2013.11.04 

Prepared:   Wednesday 2013.10.30  

TO:  Residents of Auburn and the Auburn City Council 

FROM:  Tizz E. H. Crowley- Auburn City Council Ward 1 

  Mayor LaBonte’s representative to AWD 

 

The Auburn Water District met on Wednesday October 16, 2013 at the 

District’s office on Court Street. 

 

I was sick and unable to prepare a report regarding the September meeting, but highlights included: 

- With water use down, revenues are also below budget.  The projected bottom line for year-end will be 

approximately $100,000 rather than the earlier forecast of $169,000. 

- There was discussion about the benefit and lower costs for rental of some equipment, like a backhoe, in 

comparison to purchase.  

- The water service was converted over to the new bridge out on Hotel Road.  The Trolley Bridge will likely 

be removed next year.  

- The Maine Public Utilities Commission dismissed the 10 person complaint against the Auburn Water 

District.  

- There was a great deal of discussion regarding the submission of a bid from the AWD to provide 

operational services to New Gloucester for their district.  Trustees voted unanimously to submit a bid; the 

final contract would need Trustee approval. 

- While we escaped having to treat Lake Auburn this summer, there have been some high phosphorous 

levels from Townsend Brook.  The District plans follow up work to identify contributing factors.  On a side 

note, I raised questions about Townsend Brook and the use of Tot Lot months ago at the Parks & 

Recreation Advisory Board.  After repeated follow up inquiries from me, the AUBURN PARKS & 

RECREATION ADVISORY BOARD MEETING MINUTES MARCH 13, 2013 stated “Townsend Brook runs 

through the Tot Lot property.  There is a question as to what the algae bloom will have on the brook.  No 

progress has been made at this time.”  No follow up information, or indications of any work, has been 

noted/reported by the AUBURN PARKS & RECREATION ADVISORY BOARD or the Recreation Department 

has been done since this notation in March-7 months ago.  My interest and questions, as the Ward 1 City 

Councilor, was more than the algae bloom. 

- The AWD did submit initial rate filings with the MPUC with a recommendation for a 9.8% across the board 

increase.  

- In the next quarter, the District is expected to advertise an opening in the business office for a customer 

service manager.  This position is a result of the planned retirement in April 2014 of Ms. Diane Tribou.  

Ms. Tribou has provided 33 years of excellent service and attention to detail for the District staff and AWD 

customers.  She will be missed. 

Project updates at the October meeting included crews doing more separation work.  We are also seeing some 

erosion around Lake Auburn and seen on the Spring Road.   There appears to be two washouts on this road.  

LAWPC and the City of Auburn have work to do addressing this erosion damage. There was discussion about the 

need for greater lake security around Lake Auburn and in particular the Route 4 corridor. The road has a number 

of 24” culverts diverting run-off directly into the Lake.  We need a safer discharge of water.  

Preliminary introduction about the potential sale of Tot Lot was raised.  There was strong interest by the Trustees 

to secure this resource, should the City sell, for the Auburn Water District.  Of course LAWPC would also be 



another interested party.  Trustees supported some kind of continued use as a recreation area.  Townsend Brook 

which runs into Lake Auburn might be a potential source of water in an emergency.  It is comforting for customers 

to know the AWD has contingency plans. 

The Auburn Water District recently received a FEMA award for its services. 

The lab reports should an extremely high NaOH gal/MG.  NaOH is sodium hydroxide.   October’s data was 3 times 

the September figure.  It was reported that alkaline was being added to the water and the District would also use 

CO2 to offset.     

The year-end forecast has been reduced from $170,000 to $140,000.  The notice for a rate increase effective 

January 1, 2014 was reviewed by the Trustees.  The minimum water bill would move from $32.29 per quarter to 

$35.46 per quarter.  A public hearing will be held on Wednesday, November 20, 2013 at 5:00pm in the 

Community Room at City Hall. 

As always, thank you Mr. Mayor for providing me the opportunity to serve. 



 

IN RECOGNITION 
OF 

AUBURN CHIEF OF POLICE 

PHILLIP L. CROWELL, JR 

ON BEING ELECTED PRESIDENT OF  

THE MAINE CHIEFS OF POLICE ASSOCIATION 
 

 

   

 WHEREAS, Police Chief Phillip L. Crowell, Jr. has had an illustrious career with the 

City of Auburn Police Department for nearly 20 years (13 Nov 93-Present), rising through the 

ranks to his current position; and  

 

 WHEREAS, Chief Crowell has represented his country, family, community, department 

and profession with honor, courage and commitment, he has been a role model for many 

including but not limited to his Department personnel; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Chief Crowell, a long time member of the Maine Chiefs of Police 

Association, was named on September 12, 2013 as that organization’s President; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Chief Crowell is taking on this important position he is committed to 

advancing his profession through cooperative efforts with local institutions of higher learning, he 

understands that an educated law enforcement officer will be more valuable to his or her 

community; and 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, the Auburn City Council, on behalf of the Citizens of Auburn, 

herewith recognizes and commends Police Chief Phil Crowell for being elected as the Maine 

Chiefs of Police Association’s President.  

 

 

 

___________________________ 

Jonathan P. LaBonté 

Mayor 
 



Auburn Book Project Winner 
Oliver Hall 

Page 1 of 1 
 

 

 
During the last school year,  45 of Auburn’s sixth grade students were involved in the 

Auburn Book Project. This project is designed to encourage student writers to participate in a 
simulated publishing world and to promote their ingenuity as  writers and illustrators as they 
create original books entered for a special prize, the Auburn Book Award. Oliver Hall is the 
recipient of the 2013 Auburn Book Award and was recently honored at the Auburn Public 
Library where he received four complimentary copies of his book, which is now on sale at all 
elementary school libraries for five dollars.  In addition he also received  the Auburn Book 
Award Plaque, and a gernerous donation from Maine Family Federal Credit Union of a fifty 
dollar giftcard to represent royalties from book sales.   

 
Oliver is a multifacteted writer.  Not only has he received the Auburn Book Project for 

2013, but he performed an original musical composition at the Franco Heritage Center this 
summer; he wrote the original piano score, the accompaniment scores, and the lyrics! 
  
 Oliver spent his elementary school days at East Auburn School where he was also a 
member of the competitive Auburn Math Team, and he is currently a student at Auburn 
Middle School where he is a member of the school’s soccer team.  He has been seen in 
Community Little Theater’s summer youth productions with leading roles over the past few 
years, and when he isn’t writing, he is likely to be sailing, Yes, this young man knows how to 
catch the wind!!  Oliver is with us this evening to share one of the poems from his award 
winning book, and will also present a signed copy to me!  
 

 Oliver will go to podium to read poem 

 Oliver presents the Mayor with signed book 
 
Once again….Oliver’s book, “Walking Through The Seasons,” is in circulation at all Auburn 

libraries and is on sale at all elementary school libraries for the fabulous price of $5.00!!!   

 

 

 

 

 



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Morris Auto Mart, 940 Washington Street Junkyard License Renewal 

 

Information: The business owner has made progress towards compliance but will need some additional time for 

full compliance.  An updated inspection memo is attached.   

 

Financial: None 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: To delay action on this license until December 16, 2013. 
 

 

Previous Meetings and History: September 3, September 16 Workshops and October 7 Meeting.    

 

 

Attachments: Current Flood Map, Inspection Memorandum dated October 29, 2013.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Council Meeting Date:  November 4, 2013 Order  86-10072013 

Author:   Eric J. Cousens, Planning and Permitting Director 



Current Flood Map  

 

1% 

Flood 

Hazard 

Area  

 



City of Auburn, Maine 
“Maine’s City of Opportunity” 

___________________________      ______ 
Office of Planning & Permitting 

60 Court Street  Suite 104  Auburn, ME 04210 

(207) 333-6600 Voice  (207) 333-6601 Automated  (207) 333-6623 Fax 

www.auburnmaine.org 
      

 

To:   Mayor and City Council 

 

From: Eric J. Cousens, Director of Planning and Permitting 

 

Re: 2012-2013 Junkyard License Inspections - Morris Auto Mart - 940 Washington ST. N 

 

Date:  October 29, 2013 

 

At the Council meeting on October 1st the Council postponed action on the Morris Auto Mart  

junkyard license renewal due to noncompliance with State and Local requirements.   

 

A follow up inspection revealed that there are still some operational violations and some 

improvements from the last inspection.  The operator is still storing vehicles within the 

floodplain and within 100’ of inland waters that still contain batteries and fluids which is a 

violation of MRSA 30-A, 3754-A, 5B.  The property owner has agreed to remedy the violations 

and has substantially reduced the number of vehicles containing fluids within the restricted areas.  

They have also devised a marking system to track which vehicles have been processed and fluids 

drained.    I was given a detailed explanation of how they plan to comply with this requirement 

and the marking system is helping them do that.  Many vehicles can have the fluids pumped out 

of them where they are currently located.  Those vehicles have been drained and fluids stored 

appropriately.  The vehicles that were unable to be pumped need to be moved to the vehicle lift 

area and then drained and returned to the storage area.  The process of moving vehicles is taking 

some time and some of the vehicles that need to be moved still have fluids.  A random check of 

vehicles showed about 50% having fluids at the beginning of September and only about 10% on 

October 28
th

.  There were no batteries observed in the vehicles that were checked.  There are 

approximately 500 vehicles on the property currently which is down from about 1400 vehicles in 

2009.  Staff is meeting with the property owner again on October 30
th

 and will be giving them 

copies of the latest flood maps updated in July 2013 so that they can revise how they stage 

vehicles with fluids to ensure that they remain outside of the flood restricted areas.  Based on 

their efforts to date and their verbal commitment to resolve the issues, staff recommends that the 

Council delay action on the license one last time and schedule the final hearing for December 16, 

2013.   

 

 

 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 86-10072013  
 

   
ORDERED, that the City Council hereby approves the annual renewal request for an Auto Graveyard/Junkyard 

permit for Morris Auto Parts, 940 Washington Street North. 



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Adopting an amendment to the business licensing chapter in the Code of Ordinances to include the 

definition of Garage Sales. 

 

Information: Under the current definitions in the business licensing chapter of our Code of Ordinances, there is 

not a definition for Garage Sale. We are proposing adding that to the definitions.  

 

Staff is still working on making some minor changes to the proposed Flea Market and Garage Sale Ordinance 

presented at the 10/21/2013 Council workshop based on the feedback provided by the Mayor and Council. It is 

our intention to bring this item back on or before the December 2, 2013 Council meeting. 

 

Financial: N/A 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Recommend passage of first reading at this meeting.  

 

Previous Meetings and History: 10/21/2013 Council workshop 

 

Attachments:  

Ordinance 14-11042013 

 

 

 

 

Council Meeting Date:  November 4, 2013 Ordinance  14-11042013 

Author:   Sue Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

           

ORDINANCE  14-11042013 

 

ORDERED, that the Code of Ordinances be and hereby is amended by adding the following 

Garage Sale definition under Chapter 24, Business Licenses, Sec. 24-8 Definitions: 

 
Garage Sale –The sale of used household or personal goods held on the seller’s own premises. Also known as a 

yard sale, barn sale, moving sale, tag sale. 

 

 


	0  Agenda 11-04-2013
	1  Workshop Info Sheet LAEGC
	1a  LAEGC Documents
	1b  Doc1
	1c  Doc1
	2  Workshop Info Sheet repurposingINGERSOLL Info sheet31oct13DRAFT
	2a  Council Workshop  WALKER Agenda Item Request 2nd version 2013 08 24 Ingersoll- Crowley 2nd 2013 08 24
	2b  Ingersoll Re-Use Memo 10-24-13
	2c  Northeast Turf - Ingersoll
	3  LATC Info sheet30oct13DRAFT
	3a  LATC memo to Clint Deschene re-latc reserves 10 31 13 (2)
	3b  LATC DRAFT Resolve 30oct13
	3c  DRAFT Joint Workshop Agenda  Report on Transit - 11-1-13 (3)a
	4  Executive Session MSEA info sheet
	5  Executive Session info sheet Labor Neg update Fire, MAP Command, Patrol
	6  Workshop Info Sheet Tree Harvesting
	6a tree harvesting
	7  Workshop Info Sheet Committee Appointment process 2013
	7a  Proposed Auburn Appointment Process Final Manager Version (2)
	8  Agenda Info Sheet Wardens and Ward Clerks
	8a  Order 97-11042013 Wardens
	9  Agenda Info Sheet Constable MCJA OFFICERS                   10-28-2013
	9a  MCJA   CONSTABLE  MEMO   10-28-2013
	9b  Constable MCJA    COUNCIL     Resolve  10-28-2013
	10  Minutes 10-21-2013
	11  Auburn Sewerage District Report for Meeting Monday 2013 11 04
	11a  Auburn Water District Report for Meeting Monday 2013 11 04
	13  CrowellResolve26sep13
	14  2013 Auburn Book Project Winner - Oliver Hall
	15  Agenda Info Sheet Morris Auto Parts November 4 2013
	15a  Current Flood Map-Morris Auto
	15b  Inspection memo Morriss Auto October 29
	15c  Order 86-10072013 Morris Auto
	16  Agenda Info Sheet Garage Sale definition
	16a  Ordinance 14-11042013 Garage Sale definition

